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Chairman’s Statement

The Bank sustained a steady growth trajectory, posting a good set of results for the year. While
the macro-economic environment improved in the fi half, the second half was notably more
challenging, as foreign currency shortages and infl further constrained capacity to service
cross border payments and the overall level of business. Through this period, management and staff
continued to demonstrate commitment and dedication to serve clients.

The macroeconomic environment

The economic environment in the fi  half of 2018 was associated with renewed confi as the
Government embarked on the implementation of reforms to improve both public and private sector
confi supported by a Foreign Policy that prioritised re-engagement with the international
community.

The second half of the year was characterised by rising infl and further price distortions in
the market as a consequence of imbalances in macroeconomic fundamentals. The Bank was acutely
aware of the evolving credit risk environment and continued to adapt its lending processes to sustain
a quality loan book whilst at the same time growing its capital base. Recent fi and monetary
policy pronouncements are a welcome move in the right direction in order to restore stability and
confi in the market.

Earnings

The Bank recorded a profi after tax of $24.3 million up 23% from the $19.8 million achieved in 2017
resulting in a basic earnings per share of 1.13 cents, up from 0.92 cents in 2017, driven mainly by
higherinterestincome.

Capital and liquidity

The Banks’ total capital grew by 28% to $111.4 million in 2018 from $86.9 million in 2017. Core capital
closed the year at $107 million surpassing the 2020 minimum capital requirement of $100 million.
The total Capital Adequacy Ratio ended the year at 25%, compared to the regulatory minimum of
12%, refl further capacity to grow assets. Similarly, the bank’s liquidity ratio of 69% was well
above the minimum requirement of 30%.

Investment in the community

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Bank continued its social investment programs
mainly in partnership with the Boost Fellowship, Junior Achievement Zimbabwe, and the Zimbabwe
Farmers Union. The Bank donated $100,000 through its various partnerships as part of its ongoing
engagement strategy with key stakeholder. In addition, the Bank participated in the worldwide
Global Money Week initiative putting up an exhibition, which attracted more than 2500 youths, under
the theme ‘The History of Money’. The Bank’s staff volunteered over 1000 hours in mentorship and
social programs in their local communities, with the combined reach for all programs was in excess
of 9000 benefi

Governance

The Bank remains committed to the highest standards of corporate governance, over and above full
compliance with the requirements of the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe, the Deposit Protection Board,
the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange and other regulators. The Board composition and structure of its
committees continued torefl  these aspirations.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Messrs Anthony Mandiwanza, the former Chairman, and
Canan Dube (Independent Non-Executive Directors), retired from the Board. The Bank will continue
to cherish their wise counsel and thank them immensely for their contribution to the Board. The
Bank and the Board wish them success in their new endeavours. The Board welcomed one new
Independent Non-Executive Director, Patrick Devenish and another Non-Executive Director, Mike
Twigger. At the executive level, the Bank appointed Ciaran McSharry as the Chief Finance Officer, who
joined the Board in May 2018.

ew of Operations

Managing Director’s Re

The macro-economic environment during the year was characterised by sustained trade and current
account defi in the external sector and a fi defi . A distorted multi-tier pricing regime for
goods and services prevailed. Infl soaredup from thethird quarter to closetheyear at 42.09%
whilst interest rates remained relatively low.

The Bank’s focus to adapt and remain effi ~ underpins the sustainability of our business model
into the future. Efforts and priorities during 2018, the fi full year of migrating from Barclays PLC
into the FMBcapital Group, were focused on building the foundation to launch enhanced customer
products and experiencegoing forward.

Business highlights

During the year the Bank sustained and established new partnerships in areas of correspondent
banking, lines of credit and technology solutions. Some of these, especially in the technology space
will start to bear fruit as the bank implements its new channel offering during the fi half of 2019.
TheBank also rebranded to First Capital Bank during the year. The new brand was received favourably
byitscustomersandclients.

Within the Bank, a number of transitional projects were embarked on and closed the year on track.
The main project relates to the migration of technology systems. This will be completed during 2019.

TheBankalso sustained momentum on continuing activities. Commercial Banking businessregistered
signifi growth in its client base in the quasi-public, agriculture and manufacturing sectors. The
bank started to draw from synergies in the regional Group to develop new business and to provide
solutions to shared clients or between independent clients in the region. Retail Banking sustained
growth inthe customer base, reaching new sub segmentstoo.

Financial performance

Net interest income grew by 86% compared to prior year driven by growth in interest earning
assets. Surplus liquidity was invested mainly in government securities to optimise return on assets,
whilst efforts to grow customer assets also yielded a strong outcome. Gross loans and advances to
customers grew by 72% from $117 million at the end of 2017 to $201 million as at 31 December 2018.
Net interest income constituted 49% of total income compared to 30% for prior year. The loan to
deposit ratio was raised to 36% from 26% a year earlier. The increase in impairment to $2.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 from $0.1 million for the prior year refl general provisions
driven by growth in the loan book and other interest earning assets as well as the effect of aligning
the provisioning approach to the new International Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS9). The
Bank continues to sustain disciplined lending practices especially considering the high credit risk
environment currently prevailing in the market. The Bank’s deposits grew by 25% over the period.

Acosttoincomeratio of 66% was registered for the year, being higher than prior year due to migration
related costsincurred mainly ininformationtechnology projects and brand change.

The Bank sustained a strong liquidity position over the period. This, combined with a strong capital
base will support planned growth going forward. The Bank’s core capital closed the year at $107
million which is ahead of the $100 million regulatory minimum capital required by 2020.

s

Appreciation

As the Bank continues through this transitional period, it requires above normal levels of commitment
on the part of Board members, management and staff. Through this demanding period, colleagues have
continued to discharge their duties diligently while striving continuously to serve customers and clients
even better. The balance of focus between ensuring that the transition program is delivered on time
and also sustaining growth continued to be a delicate one. For this collective effort | wish to express
my sincere thanks and gratitude to my fellow Board members, management and staff across the Bank.

Going forward
| am pleased to advise that the transition program is progressing well, and investment in new and
enhanced technology platforms is on track for delivery in the first half of 2019.

A key step in the transition from Barclays PLC, during the year under review was the shareholders’
approval to change the Bank’s name to First Capital Bank Limited, in July 2018 leading to the adoption
of acore brand in October 2018.

TheBank is very confidentin its ability to deliver superior value to its customers and other stakeholders
well into the future.

Dividend

The Bank recently announced the withdrawal of a Cautionary Statement in which it envisaged to
restructure its balance sheet, a process which is still under review. While the Bank has surpassed the
2020 minimum capital requirement of $100 million, uncertainties in the economic environment still

necessitate a more prudent approach on the Bank’s capital base. As a result, the Board does not
proposeadividend for theyear ended 31 December 2018.

S. Mtsambiwa
Chairman

11 April 2019
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Adverse audit opinion and compliance with IFRS

The Bank received an adverse audit opinion for 2018 financial results. This was due to the impact of
the introduction of the new currency RTGS dollar as part of the February Monetary Policy Statement,
combined with the impact of the separation of Nostro and RTGS accounts in October 2018. Whileunder
international accounting standards, accounting for the change in currency would have been with effect
from 1 October 2018, S.I 33 of 2019 mandated that all accounts up to 22 February 2019 should be
reported at the effective exchange rate of 1:1. As directed the legal requirement was followed in this
regard resulting in an adverse audit opinion since compliance with International Accounting Standards
was not fully achieved due to non-compliance with IAS21. Refer to note 1.4 for the detailed disclosure.
Asensitivity analysis of theimpact on the balance sheet has been included in note 38.

Enhanced products and services

New products were launched to enhance propositions across our targeted segments. The investment
bankingofferingwasreconfi The trade fi offering was strengthened through partnerships
established during the year. Commercial asset fi lending was rolled out with some clients in
the agriculture sector starting to benefi . Loyalty lending was introduced as a product targeted at
small and medium size enterprises. Within the Retail space, the proposition for the diaspora segment
was enhanced. A number of other enhancements were done to existing products, including the bill
payment platforms.

The fl of transaction platforms and service channels continued to be acritical area of focus in
the Bank’s systems enhancement projects.

Sustained risk management

Enterprise Risk Management Frameworks have continued to be embedded to enhance the resilience
of the Bank’s systems and processes. Risk management teams and structures have also continued to
bestrengthened.

Treating Customers Fairly (TCF) is a principle the bank upholds within its Conduct Risk management
processes. Across the business, this lens is used to identify areas of conduct risk in relation to
customers, clients and the markets in which the bank operates. The Bank continues to prioritise and
valueenterpriserisk managementfundamentals.

Appreciation and looking forward

I would like to take this opportunity to appreciate the Board for its guidance and steer especially
during this transitional period. lwould also like to thank all colleagues at the Bank for their dedication
over the past twelve months. The intensity of activities during the year could only succeed with such
commitmentand collaboration across all levels.

During the year 2019, we close anumber of major transitional projects and we are sure to increase our

focus on providing solutions to the Bank’s customers and clients. This will also come with increased
investmentin our systems and processes to underpin sustainable growth into the future.

S. Matsekete
Managing Director

11April2019
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Board of Directors of First Capital Bank Limited (“the Board/First Capital Bank”) is committed
to and recognises the importance of strong governance practices. The board understands that a
comprehensive corporate governance framework is vital in supporting executive management in its
execution of strategy and in driving long term sustainable performance. In order to achieve good
governance, the Board subscribes to principles of international best practice in corporate governance
as guided by,among others, the Banking Act, the Corporate Governance Guidelines, the National Code
on Corporate Governance and the King IV report on Corporate Governance. The Board continuously
reviews its internal governance standards and practices, to ensure that it modifies and aligns them with
localand international corporate governancerequirements as appropriate.

As part of its continuing efforts to achieve good governance, the Board promotes the observance of
the highest standards of corporate governancein First Capital Bank and ensures that this is supported
by the right culture, values and behaviours from the top down. First Capital Bank is committed to
the principles of fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency. To this end the Board, is
accountable to its shareholders and all its stakeholders including the Bank’s employees, customers,
suppliers, regulatory authorities and the community from which it operates through transparent and
accurate disclosures.

Board responsibilities

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of the Bank as well as determining the way
inwhich specific governance matters are approached and addressed, approving policies and plans that
give effect to the strategy, overseeing and monitoring the implementation of strategy by management
and ensuring accountability through among other means adequate reporting and disclosures. The
Board is guided by the Board Charter in the execution of its mandate.

Board Chairman and non-executive directors

The Board of directors is led by an independent non-executive Chairman, whose primary duties
include providing leadership of the Board and managing the business of the Board through setting
its agenda, taking full account of issues and concerns of the Board, establishing and developing an
effective working relationship with the Executive directors, driving improvements in the performance
of the Board and its committees, assisting in the identification and recruitment of talent to the Board,
managing performance appraisals for directors including oversight of the annual Board effectiveness
review and proactively managing regulatory relationships in conjunction with management. In
addition, the non-executive directors proactively engage with the Bank’s management to challenge
and improve strategy implementation, counsel and support to management and to test and challenge
the implementation of controls, processes and policies which enable risk to be effectively assessed
and managed. The Chairman works together with the non-executive directors to ensure that there
are effective checks and balances between executive management and the Board. The majority of the
Board members are independent non-executive directors which provides the necessary independence
forthe effective discharge of the Board’s duties and compliance with regulatory requirements.

Executive directors

The executive management team is led by the Managing Director. Management’s role is to act as
trustees of the shareholder’s capital. Their main responsibilities include reporting to the Board on
implementation of strategy, effectiveness of risk management and control systems, business and
fi performance, preparation of fi statements and on an ongoing basis, keeping the Board
fully informed of any material developments affecting the business.

Directors’ remuneration

The Board Remuneration Committee sets the remuneration policy and approves the remuneration of
the executive directors and other senior executives as well as that of the non-executive directors. The
remuneration package of executive directors includes abasic salary and aperformance bonus which is
paid based on the performance of the company as well as that of the individual. The Bank also has in
place ashare option scheme, meant to bealong term retention incentive for employees.

Board diversity

TheFirst Capital Bank Board recognises theimportance ofdiversity and inclusioninits decision making
processes. The board is made up of six independent non-executive directors, three non-executive
directors and two executive directors. Three members of the board (27%) are female. The Board
members have an array of experience in commercial and retail banking, accounting, legal, corporate
finance, marketing, business administration,economics, human resources managementand executive
management.

Access to information

Openness andtransparency arekeyenablers fortheBoardtodischargeits mandatefully and effectively.
The non-executive directors have unrestricted access to all relevant records and information of the
Bank as well as to management. Further, the board is empowered to seek any professional advice or
opinion it may require to allow for the proper discharge of its duties.

Share Dealings / Insider trading

The directors, management and staff of First Capital Bank Limited are prohibited from dealing in the
company’s shares whether directly or indirectly, during “closed periods” which are the periods that are
amonth before the end of the interim or full year reporting period until the time of the publication of
the interim or full year results. Further, directors, management and staff are prohibited from dealing in
the company’s shares whenever the company is going through certain corporate actions or when they
are in possession of non-public information that has the potential of impacting the share price of the
company.

Communication with stakeholders

First Capital Bank Limited communicates with its stakeholders through various platforms including the
Annual General Meeting, analyst briefings, town halls, press announcements of interim and full year
financial results, notices to shareholders and stakeholders and annual reporting to shareholders and
stakeholders. The Board and management of First Capital Bank Limited also actively engage regulatory
authorities including the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe, the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange and the Deposit
Protection Corporation.

-

Internal Audit

FirstCapital Internal Auditis anindependentcontrol functionwhich supports thebusiness by assessing
how effectively risks are being controlled and managed. It works closely with the business helping drive
improvements in risk management. This is done through reviewing how the business undertakes its
processes as well as reviewing systems used by the business. The internal audit function reports its
findings to management and guides them in making positive changes to business processes, systems
and thecontrol environment. The Internal Audit function also monitors progress to ensure management
effectively remediates any internal control weaknesses identified as quickly as possible. The First
Capital Bank Head of Internal Audit reports directly to the Chairman of the Board Audit Committee and
administratively to the Managing Director.

Declaration of interest

The Board of First Capital Bank believes in the observance of ethical business values from the top to
the bottom. To this end, the Board has in place a policy that manages conflict of interest including
situational and transactional conflict. Directors disclose their interests on joining the Board and
at every meeting of the directors they disclose any additional interests and confirm or update their
declarations of interest accordingly.

Ethics

In our endeavour to instil aculture of sound business ethics, all employees and directors are requested
to attest to an Anti- Bribery and Corruption declaration which essentially seeks to ensure that our
directors, management and staff observe the highest standards of integrity in all their dealings and at
all times. The Bank has a zero tolerance policy to bribery and corruption. In addition, the business has
a whistle-blowing facility managed by Deloitte through which employees can raise any concerns they
may have anonymously.

Director induction and development

Board conformance and performance is enhanced through continuous learning. As part of its learning
program, the Board has in place acomprehensiveinduction plan for on-boarding new directors. During
the first half of the year 2018, two Board members Messrs P. Devenish and M. Twigger joined the Board
and went through the induction programme. Further, as part of continuing director development,
Board members will attended director training programs.

Boardactivities

The Board of Directors held five board meetings in the year 2018 being four quarterly meetings one
of which incorporated a strategy review meeting and a board evaluation review meeting. Each board
Committee held at least four quarterly meetings. The areas of focus included the setting of strategic
direction, the review of strategy and business operations, credit sanctioning as per approved limits,
review of internal controls and financial reports, review of the quality of the loan book, review and
oversight of the Bank’s risk management processes and oversight of the recruitment, remuneration
and performance reviews of senior management. A table detailing director’s attendance of meetings
during 2018 is shown in the last part of this report.

Board and directorevaluation

The Board conducts an annual evaluation process which assesses the performance and effectiveness
of individual directors, the Board Chairman, Committees and overall performance of the Board. This
process is facilitated by an external party to allow for objectivity. The evaluation process involves
directors completing evaluation questionnaires and having one on one meetings with the facilitator.
The results of the evaluation are collated, a report is produced and feedback provided to the Board.
The Board also submits the evaluation report to the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe. The Board conducted
its evaluation for the year ended 2017 and a report was submitted to the RBZ. Board performance
and evaluation was rated as strong by directors. Further, the Board is in the process of conducting
evaluations for the year ended 31 December 2018 which report will be submitted to the Reserve Bank
of Zimbabwe by 31 March 2019.

Board committees

The Board has delegated some of its duties and responsibilities to sub-committees to ensure the
efficient discharge of the Board’s mandate. The ultimate responsibility of running the Bank however
still remains with the Board. The subcommittees of the Board are regulated by terms of reference
which are reviewed every year or as and when necessary. The Committees meet at least once every
quarter and are all chaired by Independent non-executive directors as detailed below.

AuditCommittee

The primary functions of the Committee are to oversee the financial management discipline of the
Bank, review the Bank’s accounting policies, the contents of the financial reports, disclosure controls
and procedures, management’s approach to internal controls, the adequacy and scope of the external
and internal audit functions, compliance with regulatory and financial reporting requirements, oversee
the relationship with the Bank’s external auditors, as well as providing assurance to the Board that
management’s control assurance processes are being implemented and are complete and effective. At
each meeting, the Committee reviews reported and noted weaknesses in controls and any deficiencies
in systems and the remediation plans to address them. The Committee also monitors the ethical
conduct of the Bank, its executives and senior officers and advises the Board as to whether or not the
Bank is complying with the aims and objectives for which it has been established. During the period
underreview, therewere no material losses as aresult of internal control breakdowns.

The committee is wholly comprised of independent non-executive directors. The members of the
Committee as at 31 December 2018 were:-

B.Moyo (Chairman)

E. Fundira

T.Moyo

Board CreditCommittee

The Board Credit Committee is tasked with the overall review of the Bank’s lending policies. At each
meeting, the Committee deliberates and considers loan applications beyond the discretionary limits
of management. It ensures that there are effective procedures and resources to identify and manage
irregular or problem credit facilities, minimize credit loss and maximize recoveries. It also directs,
monitors, reviews and considers all issues that may materially impact on the present and future quality
ofthe Bank’s credit risk management.
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The Committee comprises one executive member and three non-executive directors. The members of
the Committee as at 31 December 2018 were:-

E. Fundira (Chairperson)

H. Anadkat

S.N.Moyo

S. Matsekete

Loans Review Committee

This Committee has the overall responsibility for the complete review of the quality of the Bank’s
loan portfolio to ensure that the lending function conforms to sound lending policies and keeps the
Board and management adequately informed on noted risks. It assists the Board with discharging its
responsibility to review the quality of the Bank’s loan portfolio. At every meeting, it reviews the quality
of the loan portfolio with a view to ensuring compliance with the banking laws and regulations and all
otherapplicablelaws aswell asinternal policies.

The members of the Committee as at 31 December 2018 were:-
T. Moyo (Chairperson)

P. Devenish

M. Twigger

Human Resources and Nominations Committee

TheHuman Resources and Nominations Committee assists the Board in the review of critical personnel
issues as well as acting as a Remuneration and Terminal Benefits Committee. The Committee reviews
and approves overall recommendations on employee remuneration as well as approving managerial
appointments. The Committee ensures that the remuneration of directors is in line with the nature and
size of the operations of the Bank as well as the Bank’s performance. In addition, the Committee also
considers nominations to the Board and succession planning for the Board. The Committee comprises
of four non-executive directors and one executive director.

The members of the Committee as at 31 December 2018 were:-
P. Devenish (Chairman)

S.D.Mtsambiwa

S.N.Moyo

H. Anadkat

S. Matsekete

Board Risk Committee

The Board Risk Committee is charged with the responsibility to oversee the Bank’s overall enterprise
risk environment under three broad areas of Operational Risk, Credit Risk Management and Market Risk.
These are controlled and managed independently from risk taking functions and other committees of the
Bank. The committee is responsible for the policies and procedures designed to monitor, evaluate and
respondtorisktrends andrisklevels acrossthe Bank ensuring thatthey are kept within acceptablelevels.

As at 31 December 2018 members of the committee were:-
S.N.Moyo (Chairperson)

B.Moyo

D.Dikshit

Board Migration Committee

TheBoard setup aspecial Board Committeeto overseethe migration of the Bank's processes, products
and systems, from the Barclays PLC platforms to the new platforms that the bank will be using going
forward,followingthesuccessfulconclusion oftheBarclays PLCdivestiture.

The Committee was made up of the following members as at 31 December 2018:-
B.Moyo (Chairperson)

T.Moyo

M. Twigger

D.Dikshit

S. Matsekete

In addition to the Board Committees, management operates through anumber of committees including
the Executive Management Committee and the Assets and Liabilities Committee. The Committees
terms of reference are as below.

Executive Committee (EXCO)

The Executive Committee is the operational management forum responsible for the delivery of the Bank’s
operational plans. The Executive Committee acts as a link between the Board and management and is
responsible for implementation of operational plans, annual budgeting and periodic review of strategic
plans,as well as identifi and management of key risks. The Executive Committee also reviews and
approves guidelines for employee remuneration. The Executive Committee assists the Managing Director
to manage the Bank, to guide and control the overall direction of the business of the Bank and acts as
a medium of communication and co-ordination between business units and the Board. The Committee
comprises of executivedirectorsand seniormanagement.

Assetsand Liabilities Committee (ALCO)/TreasuryCommittee

The Treasury Committee is tasked with ensuring the achievement of sustainable and stable profits
within a framework of acceptable financial risks and controls. The Treasury Committee ensures
maximization of the value that can be generated from active management of the Bank’s balance sheet
and financial risk within agreed risk parameters. It manages the funding and investment of the Bank’s
balance sheet, liquidity and cash flow, as well as exposure of the Bank to interest rate, exchange rate,
market and other related risks. It ensures that the Bank adopts the most appropriate strategy in terms
of the mix of assets and liabilities given its expectation of the future and potential consequences of
interest rate movements, liquidity constraints and foreign exchange exposure and capital adequacy. It
also ensures that strategies conform to the Bank’s risk appetite and level of exposure as determined
by the Risk Management Committee. The Committee comprises executive directors and heads of
functions key tothe proper discharge of the Committee’s responsibilities.

s

Board and committees attendance 2018

MainBoard

Name Total Meetings Present LOA**
S.D.Mtsambiwa 5 4 1
E. Fundira 5 3 2
B.Moyo 5 5 Nil
P.Devenish* 3 3 Nil
M. Twigger* 2 2 Nil
T.Moyo 5 4 1
S.N.Moyo 5 4 1
H. Anadkat 5 5 Nil
D.Dikshit 5 5 Nil
S. Matsekete 5 5 Nil
C.McSharry 3 3 Nil
Audit committee

Name Total Meetings Present LOA**
B.Moyo 4 4 Nil
E. Fundira 4 3 1
T.Moyo 4 3 1

Human resources & nominations committee

Name Total Meetings Present LOA**
P. Devenish 2 2 Nil
S.D.Mtsambiwa 4 4 Nil
S.N.Moyo 4 4 Nil
H. Anadkat 4 4 Nil
S. Matsekete 4 4 Nil
Creditcommittee

Name Total Meetings Present LOA**
E. Fundira 16 16 Nil
H. Anadkat 16 11 5
S.N.Moyo 16 16 Nil
S. Matsekete 16 16 Nil

Loansreview committee

Name Total Meetings Present LOA**
T.Moyo 4 4 Nil
S. Matsekete 4 4 Nil
M. Twigger 2 2 Nil

Risk committee

Name Total Meetings Present LOA**
S.N.Moyo 4 4 Nil
B.Moyo 4 4 Nil
D.Dikshit 4 3 1

Migration Committee

Name Total Meetings Present LOA**
B.Moyo 8 8 Nil
T.Moyo 8 6 2
D.Dikshit 8 7 1
M. Twigger 5 5 Nil
S. Matsekete 8 8 Nil

* Mr Patrick Devenish and Mr Mike Twigger were appointed to the board with effect from 26 May 2018.
**| OA—Leave of absence granted.

Directors shareholding
Thefollowing is aschedule of the directors’ shareholdings in the Bank as at 31 December 2018;

S.D.Mtsambiwa Nil

E. Fundira 2130
B.Moyo Nil

S. N. Moyo Nil

T. Moyo Nil
H.Anadkat*

D.Dikshit*

P. Devenish Nil
M. Twigger Nil

S. Matsekete 10 000
C.McSharry Nil

*Mr Hitesh Anadkat and Mr Dheeraj Dikshit hold some indirect interestin Afcarme Holdings Zimbabwe
(Private) Limited, whichinturn holds sharesin the Bank.

Annualfinancial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial results and related
financial information contained in this report. The financial statements are prepared in accordance
with generally accepted local and international accounting practices and they incorporate full and
responsible disclosure to ensure that the information contained therein is both relevant and reliable.
However compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), could not be fully
achieved due to non-compliance with IAS21. Refer to note 1.4 for the detailed disclosure. These audited
results have been prepared under the supervision of Ciaran McSharry (FCCA Registered Accountant
No0.1447680).

Compliance
The Board is of the view that the Bank complied with the applicable laws and regulations throughout
the reporting period.

By Order of the Board

V. Mutandwa
Company Secretary

11April2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Income Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 31 December 2018 for the year ended 31 December 2018
2018 2017
201 2017
Notes $000 $000 Matae ang ng
Interestincome 2 41477 21810 Cash flow from operating activities
Interestexpense 3 (1 430) (305) Profit before income tax 25145 25298
Net interest income 40047 21505 Adjustments for non-cash items:
Net fee and commission income 4 27 468 32411 Depreciation of property and equipment 9 2516 2523
Net trading income 5 11835 16142 Effect of fair value loss on investment property - (205)
Net investment income 6 1402 1016 Impairment loss on financial assets 11 2567 102
Other income ; 7 940 432 Income from non-current asset held for sale 7 (335) -
Total non-interestincome 41 645 50 001 Profit on disposal of property and equipment 7 (263) (104)
Totalincome 81692 71506 Interestaccrualonfinancialassets (12 140) (4 100)
Impairment losses on loans and advances 1 (2.461) (102) Staff loan prepayment amortisation G7) (44)
Net operating income 79 231 71404 Share based payment expense 53 92
Net derivative assets - (2
Staffcosts 8 (25 408) (24 195) Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 17 486 23560
Infrastructure costs 9 (11 481) (9 471)
Administrationandgeneralexpenses 10 (17 197) (12 750) (Increase)/decreaseinloansandadvancestocustomers (84 311) 28 231
Operating expenses (54 086) (46 416) Increaseinotherassets (639) (205)
Share of profit of joint venture. _ 310 Increasei_ndeposi_tsf_rt_)r_ncustomers 106 514 52 074
Profit before tax 25 145 25 208 Increasein other liabilities 8212 2671
Taxation 12 (823) (5508) Incometaxes paid (1979) (5881)
Profitfor the year 24322 19790 Transferinto restricted bank balances (22 927 9 093)
L Net cash generated in_operating activities 22 356 91 357
Othercomprehensiveincome
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss Cashflowfrominvestingactivities
Gainon propertyrevaluations 2076 - Purchase of property and equipment 19 (10 479) (2 040)
Deferred tax (535) - Proceeds fromsale of property and equipment 322 175
Net gain on financial assets at FVOCI 2126 3084 Dividend received frominvestment securities 1402 1106
Deferred Tax _ _ i i _ (384) (557) Interest received from investment securities 17 259 -
Total other comprehensive gain for revaluation an L a 3283 2527 Purchase of investment securities (470 422) (135 443)
Items that will be classified subsequently to profit or loss Proceedsfromlsgleanq maturllt!gs ofinvestment securities 292 029 93 347
Net gain on financial assets FVOCI - debt secutities 333 (16) Net cash used in investing activities (169 889) (42 855)
Deferred tax (86) 4
Total other comprehensiveincome on riti 247 (12) Cashflows fromfinancingactivities
- - Proceedsfromissueofsharesunderasharebased paymentplan 44 71
Total other comprehensive gain for the year, net of tax 3530 2515 Net cash generated from financing activities 24 71
Total comprehensive income for the year 27 852 22 305 Net(decrease)/increaseincashandcashequivalents (147 489) 48 573
Basic earnings per share (cents) 1.13 0.92 Cash and cash equivalents atthe beginning of the year 260709 212136
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 1.13 0.92 Cash and cash equivalents atthe end of the year 13.2 113 220 260 709
. . .
Statement of Financial Po
as at 31 December 2018 T N £
ief shows
Notes $000 $000 N— e —
Assets - 1
Cash and bank balances 13 150 707 278 570 m e e wa F
Derivativefinancialinstruments 14 - 4 -
Investment securities 15 289 001 5235
Loans and receivables from banks 16 4030 110 952
Loans and advances to customers 17 194 675 112 038
Other assets 18 8553 7578
Property and equipment 19 30 602 20 621
Investment properties 20 5145 5145
Non-currentassets held for sale 21 14 829 14 829
Currenttax assets 1202 637
Total assets 698 744 555 609
Liabilities
Derivativefinancialinstruments 14 1 2
Depositsfrombanks 22 2905 6233
Depositsfromcustomers 23 553 564 443 783
Provisions 24 3163 2376
Other liabilities 25 18 054 12435
Deferred tax liabilities 2748 2 465
Balances due to Group companies 345 1806 -
Total liabilities 582 241 467 294
Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 215 215
Share premium 27 23837 23764
Non-distributable reserves 27 7785 7785
Fairvaluethrough othercomprehensiveincomereserve 27 4926 2930
Revaluation reserve 27 4935 3456
ImpairmentReserve-FVOC financial assets 27 611 - PO . s
Share-based payment reserve 27 1228 1205 . F“’St Capltal
Retained income 72 966 48 960 i- £ 1K
Total equity 116 503 88 315
Total equity and liabilities 698 744 555 609

Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2018

Impairment
Non- Fairvaluethrough other reserve-
Share Share distributable comprehensiveincome Revaluation FVOCI Share-based Retained Total
Capital premium reserve Reserve reserve financial assets ~ paymentreserve earnings equity
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Balanceat 1 January 2018 215 23764 7785 2930 3 456 - 1205 48 960 88 315
Profitfor the year - - - - - - - 24 322 24 322
Other comprehensiveincome for the year - - - 1989 1541 - - - 3530
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 1989 1541 - - 24 322 27 852
Recognition of share-based payments - - - - - - 53 - 53
Issueofordinarysharesundershare-based paymentplans - 73 - - - - (30) - 43
Gainondisposal of FVOCI - - - 7 - - - - 7
Realisation of revaluation reserve - - - (62) - - 62 -
Impairmenton FVOCIfinancial assets - - - - - 611 - - 611
Effect of initial IFRS9 application - - - - - - - (509) (509)
Tax effecton IFRS9initial impact - - - - - - - 131 131
Total net effect of IFRS9 (Note 1.6) - - - - - 611 - (378) 233
Balance at 31 December 2018 215 23837 7785 4926 4935 611 1228 72 966 116 503
Note 27
Impairment
Non- Available reserve-
Share Share distributable for sale Revaluation FVOCI Share-based Retained
Capital premium reserve reserve reserve financial assets paymentreserve earnings Total equity
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Balance at 1 January 2017 215 23 642 7785 415 3519 - 1164 28 453 65193
Profitfor the year - - - - - - - 19 790 19 790
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 2515 - - - - 2515
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 2515 - - - 19 790 22 305
Recognition of share-based payments - - - - - - 92 - 92
Realisation of revaluation reserve - - - - (63) - - 63 -
Issue of ordinary shares under share-based payment plans - 122 - - - - (51) - 71
Contributionfrom Grouptowards compensationforlossof office - - - - - - - 654 654
Balance at 31 December 2017 215 23764 7785 2930 3456 - 1205 48 960 88 315
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Generalinformationandaccountingpolicies

Generalinformation

First Capital Bank Limited (“the Bank”) provides retail, corporate and investment banking services in
Zimbabwe. The Bank which is incorporated and domiciled in Zimbabwe is a registered commercial bank
under the Zimbabwe Banking Act Chapter (24:20). The ultimate parent company is First Capital Group
incorporatedin Mauritius. The Bank has aprimary listing on the Zimbabwe Stock Exchange.

Basis of preparation

The Bank’s audited abridged financial results are prepared and presented on the basis that they reflect the
information necessary to be a fair summary of the audited annual financial statements from which they are
derived. This includes financial results that agree with or can be recalculated from the related information
in the audited financial statements and that contain the information necessary so as not to be misleading in
the circumstances. The information contained in these financial results does not contain all the disclosures
required by International Financial Reporting standards, the Zimbabwe Companies Act (Chapter 24:03) and
the Zimbabwe Banking Act (Chapter 24:20), which are disclosed in the full annual financial statements from
which this set of financial results were derived. For a better understanding of the Bank's financial position,
its financial performance and cash flows for the year, these financial results should be read in conjunction
with the audited annual financial statements.

Thefullsignedannualreportcanbeobtained uponrequestfromthecompanysecretaryattheregisteredoffice ofthe Bank

Basis of measurement

Theaudited fi results for the period have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for thefollowing;

(i)  Equityinvestments atfair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

(i) Investment property measured at fair value;

(i)  Derivative assets/liabilities measured at fair value;

(iv) Buildings are measured using therevaluation model. Revaluationis performed after every 3 years.

\ Financial assets at fair valuethrough other comprehensiveincome (Investmentsecurities-debt)

(vi) Non-currentassets held for sale (Investmentin joint venture) measured at the lower of carrying
amountand fair valueless costto sale.

Functionaland presentation currency
Thesefi statements are presented in United States Dollars ($) whichis the Bank’s presentation currency. The
United States Dollar ($) was the Bank’s functional and presentation currencyinthe previous years.

Functional currency assessment

2017 Financial year assessment

In assessing the functional currency, the Bank used guidance from IAS21 which has primary and secondary
factors in assessing functional currency. These are:

. Thecurrencythatmainlyinfluencessales pricesforgoodsandservices;

. Thecurrencyofthecompetitiveforcesandregulationsthatmainlydeterminethesalespricesofgoodsandservices;

. Thecurrency that mainlyinfluences labour, material and other costs of providing goods or services;

. Thecurrencyinwhich funds fromfinancing activities aregenerated; and

. Thecurrencyinwhichreceipts fromoperating activities areusually retained.

The Bank concluded that the United States Dollar ($) was still the functional and presentation currency, this
was inlinewith the guidanceissued by PAAB.

2018 Financial year assessment

The Bank assessed its functional currency for the year ended 31 December 2018 continuing from the

previous assessmentdonein 2017 using samelAS 21 primary and secondaryindicators stated above

. The Bank concluded that a greater proportion of the interest income and non funded income was
being priced and settled in Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) dollars and costs being largely
determined and settled in RTGSdollars;

. Netreceipts fromoperations were largely retained in RTGS dollars;

. Agreater proportion of the Bank’sassets and deposits were now predominantly denominated in RTGS dollars
The Bank also considered the following factors;

i) Separation of Nostro and RTGS balances

. The separation of these balance was effective from 1 October 2018, which meant that customers who

had RTGS balances would not ordinarily be able to access foreign cash with effect from 1 October
2018, implying that the two were now different currencies.

i) Substance over form of RTGS transactions

. Although the RTGS was a mode of settlement and not legally recognised as a currency the Bank
considered the substance of the transactions done in RTGS, taking into account the significant
disparity between the market perception of the relative value between the United States Dollar ($)
and the RTGS dollar and concluded that the economic substance of these transactions over their legal
formwasthatRTGSwas acurrency.

Based on the above considerations the Bank concluded that its functional currency had changed from United
States Dollars ($) to RTGS dollars from 1 October 2018. However, as at 31 December 2018 the RTGS dollar had
not been promulgated legally as a currency, the Bank adopted the United States dollar ($) as its functional
currency. Statutory Instrument (S.l) 33 commissioned the RTGS dollar as a currency from 22 February and
prescribed that all RTGS assets and liabilities before 22 February must be valued at 1:1 to the United States
dollar ($) on and after 22 February. Therefore the Bank is using United States dollars ($) as the functional and
presentation currency. Assets and liabilities were converted to United States Dollars ($) as at 31 December
2018 for reporting at the offi exchange rate of 1:1 to comply with local laws and regulations.

Statutory Instrument (S.I) 33 of 2019 & IAS21 requirements

Following the monetary policy on the 20th of February 2019, Statutory Instrument (S.I) 33 of 2019 was
issued effective 22 February which introduced RTGS dollar as acurrency and specified that all RTGS assets
and liabilities which were effectively valued in United States Dollars ($) before the effective date shall be
converted at 1:1 on and after the effective date.

1AS21:23&39 requires that assets and liabilities in foreign currency be converted at the closing market rate
to the local currency/reporting currency and income and expense items be converted at the rate of the
transaction date.

IAS21:26 also require that if exchangeability between two currencies is temporarily lacking the rate used to
convertbalancesis thefirst subsequentrateat which exchanges could be made.

Non Compliancewith IAS21

(S.1.)33prescribed that RTGS assets and liabilities in United States Dollars ($) before 22 February be converted
at 1:1 hence the Bank applied this legal requirement when converting balances at year end to comply with
local laws and regulations. As aresult the Bank could not apply the requirements of IAS21 described above
which required a market exchange rate to be applied when converting balances into reporting currency or
use of first subsequent rate when exchange rate is temporarily lacking resulting in non-compliance with
IAS21. Refer to note 38 for the disclosure of the impact of various exchange rates to the balance sheet

Audit opinion and key audit matters

These audited abridged financial results should be read in conjunction with the complete set of financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, which have been audited by KMPG Chartered Accountants
(Zimbabwe) and an adverse opinion has been issued thereon. The auditors report, which has an adverse
opinion in respect of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standard 21 (Effects of Changes in
ForeignExchange Rates),isavailableforinspectionatthe Bank’sregistered address.

Accounting policies

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the unaudited financial results are consistent with
the most recent financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 except for the adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS9-Financial Instruments) and International Financial
Reporting Standard 15 (IFRS15- Revenue from contracts with customers)detailed below.

Adoptionof newand revised accounting standards

During the current year, the Bank has adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations
issued by the IASB and the IFRIC that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual reporting
periods beginning onl January 2018. The adoption of these new and revised standards and interpretations
hasresulted in material changes tothe Bank’s accounting policies.

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the audited financial results are consistent with the
most recent financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 except for the current adoption
of International Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS9-Financial Instruments) and International Financial
Reporting Standard 15 (IFRS15- Revenue from contracts with customers)detailed below.

IFRS15-Revenuefromcontracts with customers adoption

IFRS15 establishes a framework for determining when and how much revenue is recognised. Under IFRS15,
revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control of goods or services. It replaces International
accounting standard 18 (IAS18-Revenue) and the related interpretations. There has been no significant
change to the timing and value of revenue recognised from the existing policies. Therefore the Bank has
adopted IFRS15 from the date of initial application with no restatement of 2017 financials.

IFRS9-Financial Instruments adoption

The Bank has adopted IFRS9 as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in July 2014
with effect from 1 January 2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the
amounts previously recognised in the financial statements. The adoption of IFRS9 has resulted in changes
in accounting policies for recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with
financial instruments such as IFRS7’ Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.

TheBankdid notearly adopt IFRS9in previous periods. As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS9,
the Bank elected not to restate comparative figures. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial
assets and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in the opening retained earnings and other
reserves of the current period.

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential amendments to IFRS7 disclosures have only been applied
tothecurrentperiod. Thecomparative period notes disclosures repeat those disclosures madein prior year.

Effectofadopting IFRS9ontheclassification and measurement of Financial assets and liabilities

The following table explains the original measurement categories under IAS39 and the new measurement
categories under IFRS9for each class of the Bank’s financial assets as at 1 January 2018. In addition it shows
the reconciliation between the carrying amount at 31 December 2017 under IAS39 and the opening balance
at1January 2018 under IFRS9.

The effect of adopting IFRS9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at 1 January 2018 relates solely

to the new impairment requirements, as described further below. There were no movement of balances
between asset classes.

5

Re [ I[FRS9 opening
IAS39 carrying | -measurement amount at
IFRS9 new amount at (Impairment 1January
Financial | IAS39 Classifi classifi and [ 31 December impact) 2018
Instrument and Measurement measurement $000 $000 $000
Loans and Loans and
advances to receivables Financial assets
customers (amortised cost) | atamortised cost 112 038 419 112 457
Loans and
receivablesfrom
banks (held Loans and ) )
for investment receivables Financial assets
purposes) (amortisedcost) | at amortised cost 110 952 (928) 110 024
Investment
securities (held
for liquidity Available-for -sale | Financial assets at
purposes) | investments (FVOCI) FVOCI 1026 - 1026
Investment
securities (held Held for trading Financialassets
for tradina) (FVPL) atFVPL -
Investment
securities (equity Available-for-sale- | Financial assets at
investments) | investments (FVOCI) FVOCI 4209 - 4209
Loans and Financialassets
Cashand bank receivables atamortised
balances (amortised cost) cost 278 570 - 278 570
Loans and
receivables | Financial assets at
Other assets (amortised cost) amortised cost 7578 - 7578
Total 514 373 (509) 513 864

The adoption of IFRS9 has not had a significant effect on the Bank’s accounting policies related to financial
liabilities and derivative financial instruments; therefore IFRS9 largely retains the existing requirements in
IAS39 for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. However, the measurement of financial
assets eliminates the previous IAS39 categories for financial assets held to maturity, loans and receivables
andavailable for salefinancial instruments.

The netimpact of $508 738 was adjusted through retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity

Classification of Financial instruments

Under IFRS9, oninitial recognition, afinancial assetis classified as measured at:

i Amortised cost

ii.  Fairvaluethrough other comprehensiveincome (FVOCI)-debtinvestments
iii.  Fairvaluethrough other comprehensiveincome (FVOCI)}-equity investments
iv. orFairvaluethrough Profitand Loss (FVTPL).

The classification of financial assets under IFRS9 is generally based on the business model in which a
financial assetis managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. Derivatives embedded in contracts
where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid
financialinstrumentasawholeisassessedforclassification. Thebusiness models areexplainedasfollows:

i) Hold to collect contractual cash-flow - Amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not

designatedas atFVTPL:

. Itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash fl ws;and

. Its contractual terms giverise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and intereston the principal amount outstanding.

i) Hold to collect contractual cash-flow and selling - FVOCI
Adebtinvestmentis measuredatFVOCIifitmeets both of thefollowing conditionsandis notdesignated as at FVTPL:

. Itisheldwithinabusiness model whose objectiveisachieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets; and
. Its contractual terms giverise on specified dates to cash flows thatare solely payments of principal and

intereston the principal amount outstanding.

iii) Other business model -Equity investments (FVOCI)

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank irrevocably elects to
presentsubsequentchanges intheinvestment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis.

iv) Hold to sell - (FVTPL)
All fi assets not classifi as measured at amortised costor FVOCl as described above are measured at
FVTPL.Thisincludes all derivativefinancial assets and debtinstruments held for trading.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value and transaction costs that are directly
attributable to their acquisition, if they are not fair value through profi and loss. Transaction costs for financial
assets and liabilities carried at fair valuethrough profi andloss are expensedin profi and loss

Thefollowing accounting policies applyto thesubsequent measurement of financial assets.

Financial instrument Business model IFRS9 subsequent measurement

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The amortised cost
is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchangegainsand losses andimpairmentarerecognisedin
profi orloss.Anygain orloss onderecognitionisrecognised

inprofi_orloss

Hold to collect
Loans and advances to contractual
customers cash-fl ws

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The amortised cost
is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchangeonderecognitionisrecognisedinprofi orloss.

Loans and receivables Hold to collect
from banks (held for contractual cash-
investment purposes) fl_ ws

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value.
Interest income and impairment is recognised in profit
or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in
OCI.Onderecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
OClarereclassified to profit or loss.

Investment securities- Hold to collect
debt (held for liquidity contractual cash-
purposes) fl ws and sell

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value.
Dividends are recognised as income in profi or loss unless
Investment securities- Other business the dividend clearly are recognised in OCI and are never
equity model reclassifi__toprofi orloss.

Investment securities- These assets are subsequently measured at fair value.
debt (held for trading) Hold to sell Net gains are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairmentof financial assets

IFRS9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt
investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS9, credit losses are
recognised earlier than under IAS39. The financial assets at amortised cost consist of loans and advances,
cashandcashequivalentsanddebtsecurities.

IFRS9outlines athree stage model forimpairmentbased onchangesincreditquality sinceinitial recognition
as summarised below:

. Stage 1 - Financial instruments notcreditimpaired oninitial recognition and are performing

. Stage 2 - If significantincrease in credit risk is identified the asset is moved to stage 2

. Stage 3-If the assetis creditimpaired itis moved to stage 3.

Expected credit losses measurement(ECLS)

. ECLs are measured on either a12month or Lifetime basis depending on whether asignificantincrease
increditrisk has occurred sinceinitial recognition or whether the assetis considered creditimpaired

. TheBank uses aportfolio based approach to calculation of ECLs. The portfolios are segmented into
retail and corporate and further by product

. Refer to note 36.5 for the detailed ECL notes.

The impairment impact of initial application of the new provisioning model in transitioning from IAS 39 to
IFRS9 is as shown below

Impact of Impairment

$000
Impairment balance for IAS39 at 31 December 2017 4811
Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and advances (419)
Financial assets at amortised cost - Debt investments 928
Financial assets at FVOCI-Debtinvestments -
Financialassets at FVOCI-Equity investments
Other assets
Cash and bank balances -
Total IFRS9 opening balance at 1 January 2018 5320
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2. Interestincome
2018 2017
$000 $000
Bank balances 76 87
Investmentsecurities 25 368 6 666
Loans and advances to customers 16 033 15 057
Total interestincome 41 477 21810
3. Interest expense
Deposits frombanks - (1)
Customer deposits (1 430) (304)
Total interest expense (1 430) (305)
4. Netfeeand commissionincome
Fee and commission income
Accountactivity fees/ledger fees 7 296 8197
Insurance commission received 411 481
Commission received 13875 14 030
Guarantees 835 167
Cardbased transaction fees 2702 5453
Cashwithdrawal fees 2 850 4197
Totalfeeandcommissionincome 27 969 32525
Feeand commission expense
Guarantee expense (350) (114)
Otherfeesandcommissions (151) -
Total feeandcommission expense (501) (114)
Net fee and commissionincome 27 468 32411
Net fee and commissionincome above excludes amounts included in determining the effective interest
rateonfinancial assets measured atamortised cost
5. Nettradingincome
Net foreign exchangeincome 10 963 15224
Tradingincome-Financial instruments 872 918
Net trading income 11835 16142
6. Net investment income
Dividend _income 1402 1016
Net investment income 1402 1 016
7. Otherincome
Gain ondisposal of property and equipment 263 104
Rental income 342 328
Income from non-currentasset held for sale 335 -
Total other income 940 432
8. Staffcosts
Salaries and allowances (22 249) (20 168)
Social security costs (206) (197)
Pension costs: defi contribution plans (2 158) (2014)
Directors’remuneration - for services as management (742) (839)
Directors’ compensation for loss of offi ~ funded by the Bank - (231)
funded by the Group - (654)
Sharebasedpaymentplan (53) (92)
Total staff cost (25 408) (24 195)
Average number of employees during period 743 697
2018 2017
$000 $000
9. Infrastructure costs
Repairs and maintenance (1813) (1 442)
Migration costs - Technology (1734) -
Other property costs (2075) (2139)
Security costs (1147) (1118)
Depreciation of property and equipment (2516) (2523)
Operating leaserentals (2 196) (2 249)
Total infrastructure costs (11 481) (9471)
10. Administrativeandgeneralexpenses
Auditors’ remuneration:
Auditrelated services (260) (196)
Review services (23) (35)
Total auditor related fees (283) (231)
Consultancy,legal and professional fees (787) (546)
Subscription, publications, stationery and communications (4787) (4 460)
Marketing, advertising and sponsorship (521) (376)
Travel and accommodation (983) (757)
Entertainment (66) (29)
Cash transportation (1 264) (1 565)
Directors fees (245) (361)
Insurancecosts (2 232) (2079)
Migration cost - branding and other (1 985) -
Group recharges (2 491) -
Card operating expenses (748) (1510)
Other administrative and general expenses (805) (836)
Totaladministrativeand general expenses (17 197) (12 750)
11. Credit impairment losses
Stagel (2516) -
Stage2 304 -
Stage3 (355) -
Total (2567) -
Identified - (689)
Unidentified - 554
Total (2567) (135)
Recoveries ofloans and advances previously written off 106 (33)
Statementof comprehensiveincomecharge (2 461) 102
12. Income taxes
Incometax recognised in profitor loss
Normal tax — current year (1414) (5 505)
Deferred tax 591 3)
Total income tax recognised in the current year 823 (5508)
13. Cash balances and equivalents
13.1. Cash and bank balances
2018 2017
$000 $000
Settlementbalance with Central Bank 65 901 248 384
Statutory reserve balance with Central Bank 24 176 -
Money marketassets 20 007 -
Cashonhand-foreigncurrency 17 918 15785
Cashonhand-Bondnotes and coins 4224 -
Balancesduefromgroupcompanies 2 -
Balances with banks abroad 18 513 14 401
Cash and bank balances 150 741 278 570
Less: Expected Credit loss B4 -
Netcashand bankbalances 150 707 278 570

13.2.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Cash and cash equivalents-cash flow statement

2018 2017

$000 $000
Total cash and bank balances 150 741 278 570
Restricted settlement balances with Central Bank (7 349) (7 342)
Statutoryreserve balance with Central Bank (24 176) -
Restricted balanceswithbanksabroad (3744) (4 999)
Clearingbalancesduefrombanks 653 713
Bankbalances duetoaroun companies - -
paiances guetoomner panks Z YUD 0 233
lotal cash and cash equivalents —statement ot cash flows 113 220 260 r0Y

Derivativefinancialinstruments
The Bank uses cross-currency swaps to manage the foreign currency risks arising from asset and deposit

balances heldwhich aredenominatedinforeigncurrencies. Forward exchange contractsare for trading and
fareinn currencv rick mananement niirnnses

Carrying amount
Thefair value of the derivative financial instruments represents the present value of the positive or negative

CASHHUWS, WIHCTTWOUIU HAVe OCCUTTEU I LIIETIYIILS Allu OUNYAUUNS allsIng o tdtnsuuimnentwer e cluseua
outin an oraerly marketpiace trransacton atyear end.

Contractamount

Ihe gross notional amount Is the sum of the absolute value of all bought and sold contracts. Ihe amount
cannotbe used to assess the marketrisk associated with the position and should beused only as a means ot
assessing the Bank’s participation in derivative contracts.

Carrying amount

Notional contract

amount Assets Liabilities
$000 $000 $000
2018
Foreign exchange derivatives
Foreignexchangespottrades 745 - 1
Total foreign exchange derivatives 745 - 1
2017
Foreign exchange derivatives
Foreignexchangespottrades - -
Currency swap 2190 4 2
Total foreign exchange derivatives 2190 4 2
Investment securities
2018 2017
$000 $000
Treasury bills and bonds 282 666 1026
Equity securities 6335 4209
Balance at end of the year 289 001 5235

Treasurybillsand bonds classified asinvestmentsecuritiesareheld to collectcontractual cash flows and
sellif the need arises. They are measured at fair value.

Expected credit losses are accounted for through impairment reserve in equity. A total of $610 748 was
recognised in the reserve as at 31 December 2018.

Equity securities are designated as fair valuethrough other comprehensiveincomeand measured at fair value.

2018 2017

$000 $000
Balance at beginning of the year 5235 34104
Additions 270 038 -
Accruedinterest 11733 15
Maturities (464) (31 953)
Changesinfairvalue 2459 3069
Balance at end of the year 289 001 5235
Loans and receivables from banks
Treasury bills 3384 110 239
Clearingbalancesduefrombanks 653 713
Total before expected creditlosses 4037 110952
Less: Expected credit loss (@) -
Total carrying amount at year end 4030 110952

Treasury bills held for investment purpose are classified as financial assets at amortised cost. These
financial assets are held to earninterestincome over their tenor and to collect contractual cash flows.

Loans and advances to customers

Retail Business Corporateand
Banking Banking Investment Banking Total
$000 $000 $000 $000
2018
Personal andtermloans 40 850 47 558 68 250 156 658
Mortgage loans 8398 - - 8398
Overdrafts 283 3336 32 860 36 479
Interest in suspense - (375) - (375)
Gross loans and advances to customers 49 531 50519 101 110 201 160
Less: Expected credit losses
Stage1-12month ECL (607) (1423) (2 686) (4 716)
Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL not creditimpaired (25) @) (511) (543)
Stage 3-Lifetime ECL creditimpaired (483) (743) - (1226)
Total (1115) (2173) (3197) (6 485)
Netloans and advances tocustomers 48 416 48 346 97 913 194 675
2017
Personal and termloans 40 485 11 594 28013 80 092
Mortgages 8028 - - 8028
Overdrafts 331 2589 26 205 29125
Interestinsuspense - (375 (21) (396)
Gross loans and advances to customers 48 844 13 808 54197 116 849
Less:allowanceforimpairment
Identifi  impairment (1 603) (453) - (2 056)
Unidentifi  impairment (786) (626) (1343) (2 755)
Total (2 389) (1079) (1343) (4811)
Netloans and advances tocustomers 46 455 12729 52 854 112 038
Other assets
2018 2017
$000 $000
Prepayments and stationery 2867 2139
Card transactions 2249 2206
Other debtors 754 876
Incomereceivable fromnon-currentasset held for sale 335 -
Staff loans market interest rate adjustment 2348 2357
8553 7578
Current 6702 5535
Non-current 1851 2043
8553 7578
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Property and equipment

Assets
Land and Furniture  Motor under
buildings Computers Equipment andfi vehicles development Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2018
Balanceatbeginning oftheyear 14927 1925 330 737 2702 20621
Additions - 1404 839 136 778 7322 10479
Revaluation 2076 - - - - - 2076
Disposals - (46) @) (18) (707) - (778)
Depreciation charge on disposals - 45 7 10 658 - 720
Depreciationcharge (288) (941) (168) (243) (876) - (2516)
Carrying amount at end of the year 16 715 2387 1001 622 2555 7322 30602
Costorvaluation 16 715 7064 3296 1763 5183 7322 41343
Accumulateddepreciationand
impairment - 4677) 2 295) (1141) (2628) - (10741)
Carryingamountat end of theyear 16 715 2387 1001 622 2555 7322 30602
Atotal of $7.3 million included in assets relate to the new system being developed by the Bank.
Land and Furniture Motor
buildings Computers Equipment andfi vehicles  Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000
2017
Balance at beginning of the year 15215 2482 367 635 2586 21285
Additions - 441 161 309 1129 2040
Disposals - (353) (133) (29) (845)  (1360)
Depreciation charge on disposals - 328 132 29 690 1179
Depreciation charge (288) (973) (197) (207) (858) (2 523)
Carrying amount at end of the year 14 927 1925 330 737 2702 20621
Costorvaluation 17 594 5707 2463 1646 5075 32485
Accumulateddepreciation andimpairment (2667) (3782) (2133) (909) (2373) (11864)
Carrying amount at end of the year 14 927 1925 330 737 2702 20621

Property and equipment was subjected to impairment testing by way of internal evaluation of
obsolescence of equipment. Revaluation takes place after every three years. Land and buildings were revalued
at 31 December 2018 by an independent valuer. If land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis,
the carrying amount would be $11 193 682 (2017: $11 398 054). No items of property and equipment were
pledged as collateral as at 31 December 2018.

Investment properties

2018 2017
$000 $000
Fairvalue
Balance at beginning of the year 5145 5250
Changesinfairvalue - (105)
Balance at the end of the year 5145 5145
Rental income derived from investment properties 342 328

Investment property comprises commercial properties that are leased to third parties. No contingent rents
are charged. The property was fair valued in 2018 with nil fair value movement (2017 had a loss of $105 000).
Rental income from investment property of $342 000 (2017: $327 770) is recognised in other income.

The fair value of investment property was determined by external, independent property valuers, having
the appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category
of the property being valued. The independent valuers provide the fair value of the Bank's investment
property portfolio annually.

The fair value measurement of the investment property has been categorised as Level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy (Note 32) based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

Non-currentasset held for sale

2018 2017
$000 $000
Investment in joint venture 14 829 14 519
Share of profit of joint venture held for sale - 310
Total 14 829 14 829

TheBankis considering various alternative options to dispose its 50%shareholding in Makasa Sun. Taking
into consideration the various alternatives and the timing of regulatory approvals granted, management’s
assessmentis thatthejointventurecontinues to be classified as non-current asset held for sale.

Balances duetootherbanks

2018 2017
$000 $000
Bankbalances duetobanks abroad - 449
Clearing balances dueto other banks 2 905 5784
2905 6 233
Depositsfromcustomers
Business Corporateand
Retail Banking Banking Investment Banking Total
$000 $000 $000 $00C
2018
Demand deposits 83099 141 812 205 492 430 403
Timeand call deposits 909 47 452 51 425 99 786
Savings accounts 14 370 1 - 14371
Other - - 9 004 9 004
Total 98 378 189 265 265 921 553 564
2017
Demand deposits 81231 124 777 178 118 384 126
Call deposits 569 450 30 096 31115
Savings accounts 16 077 2 - 16 079
Other - 12 463 12 463
Total 97 877 125 229 220 677 443 783

Included in the deposits above are foreign currency deposits of $49.8 million. Deposits from customers
only include financial instruments classified as liabilities at amortised cost. Fair value of deposits from
customers approximates carrying amount because of their short tenure. Included in customer accounts
are deposits of $9 004 124 (2017: $12 463 068) held as collateral for loans advanced and letters of credit.

2018 2017
Concentration of customer deposits $000 % $000 %
Trade and services 198 263 36 142 129 32
Energy and minerals 16 303 3 36 252 8
Agriculture 50 724 9 42 749 10
Constructionand property 3027 1 4139 1
Lightand heavyindustry 63 844 12 49 427 1
Physical persons 98 342 18 97 880 22
Transportanddistribution 79 342 14 52 445 12
Financial services 43719 8 18 763 4
Total 553 564 100 443 783 100
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Provisions
Staffretention Outstanding
incentive employeeleave Total
$000 $000 $000
Balanceat1January 2018 2036 340 2376
Provisions madeduring the year 2280 517 2797
Provisionsused duringtheyear (2 010) (2 010)
Balance at 31 December 2018 2306 857 3163
2017
Balanceat1January 2017 1567 456 2023
Provisions madeduring the year 1984 284 2268
Provisionsused during theyear (1515) (400) (1915)
Balance at 31 December 2017 2036 (340) 2376

The staff retention incentive represents a provision for a performance based staff incentive to be paid to
staff and is included in staff costs. Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. The provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as aresult of services rendered by
employees up to thereporting date and the charge is recognised in profi or loss within “staff costs”.

Other liabilities

2018 2017
$000 $000
Accrued expenses 7422 5369
Internalaccountsincluding unpresented bank drafts 10 632 7066
Balance at 31 December 18 054 12 435

Retirement benefit plans

Barclays Bank Pension Fund

The Barclays Bank Pension Fund (“The Fund”) manages retirement funds for the active members and
pensioners. The Fund is run by appointed Trustees. The assets of the Funds are managed as one composite
pool, with no separation for the active members and pensioners. The awarding of pension increases and
increase in accumulated values to active members is done in consideration of the performance of the Fund
andanyrequirementtoincreaserisk reserves.

Theplan assets comprise of abank balance, equity instruments and money market deposits at 31 December 2018.

2018 2017

$000 $000
Cash and bank balances 1961 926
Equities and unit trusts 38 355 26 767
Money market 9123 6414
Properties 34 200 34150
Other 486 429
Total 84 125 68 686

Defined contribution plans

The defined contribution pension plan, to which the Bank contributes 100%, is provided for permanent
employees. Over and above the Bank’s contribution, the employee contributes 5%. Under this scheme,
retirement benefits are determined by reference to the employees’ and the Bank’s contributions to date
and the performance of the Fund.

All employees are also members of the National Social Security Authority Scheme, to which both the
employer and the employees contribute. The Bank contributes 3.5%of pensionable emoluments (maximum
$700) for eligible employees.

Defined benefit pension plans
The Fund provides for annuities for those pensioners who opted not to purchase the annuity from an external
insurer at the point of retirement. All annuities are now purchased outside the Fund at the point of retirement.

The provision of pension annuities to pensioners is a significant defined benefit. As a result, a valuation
was performed based on IAS 19; Employee Benefits for the whole Fund for both the assets and liabilities.

Summary of thevaluation is shownbelow:

2018 2017
$000 $000
Present value of pensioner obligation (defined benefit) 17 083 17 248
Active members liability (defined contribution) 43 273 34746
Deferred pensioners 5835 4702
Other liabilities-risk pools 1493 1323

Other sundry liabilities 1337 943

Total liabilities 69 021 58 962
Total assets 84 125 68 686
Net surplus (attributable to the Fund) 15104 9724

This surplus is attributable to the Fund and the Trustees have discretion as to the application and
appropriation of the surplus. The surplus could notbe recognised as an asset by the Bank because the Bank
will not receive any future benefits from the surplus in the form of contribution holidays or refunds. The
Fund rules clearly state that the Bank will not be paid any refund relating to the surplus. In addition the Bank
is currently not making any additional contributions for the pensioners, therefore, there will be no benefit
tothe Bank arising from reduced contributions or contribution holiday.

Share capital

2018 2017
Authorised share capital $000 $00C
5000000 000 (2016: 5 000 000 000) ordinary shares of USc0.01 per share. 500 500
Issued share capital
2156720176 (2017:2 155630176)ordinaryshares ofUSc0.01per shareper share. 215 215
Share premium 23837 23764
Total 24052 23980

The total authorised number of ordinary shares at year end was 5 billion (2017: 5 billion). The Bank’s shares have
a nominal value of USc0,01 from date of issue in United States dollars. The unissued share capital is under the
control of the directors subject to the restrictions imposed by the Zimbabwe Companies Act (Chapter 24.03), the
Zimbabwe Stock Exchange listing requirements and the Articles and Memorandum of Association of the Bank. A
total of 1090 000 shares wereissued during the year under a share based paymentplan.

Share premium
Premiums from the issue of shares are reported in the share premium, including amounts transferred from
the currency translation reserve when the Zimbabwe economy adopted the multi-currency systemin 2009.

Non-distributable reserves
This relates to the balance of currency translation reserves arising from the fair valuation of assets and
liabilities on 1 January 2009 when the Bank adopted the US$ as the functional and presentation currency.

2018 2017

$000 $000
Non-distributable reserves 7785 7785
Total at 31 December 2018 7 785 7785
Impairmentreserve

2018 2017

$000 $000
Impairment on FVOCI fi assets 611 -
Total at 31 December 2018 611 -

This relates toimpairmentcharge on FVOCI debt securities.
Fairvaluethrough other comprehensiveincomereserve

Thisrelatesto fairvaluemovements oninvestmentsecurities held atfair valuethrough other comprehensive
incomewhichincludeequityanddebtsecurities.

Revaluation reserve
Revaluation movement on property and equipmentis classified under revaluation reserve. Additional detail
onrevaluation of assets is contained in Note 22.

Sharebasedpaymentreserve
Thefair value of share options granted to employees is classifi under share based paymentreserve. The
reserveis reduced when the employees exercisetheir share options.
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Financial Instruments
Classification of assets and liabilities

Assets at fair value Financial
Financialassets Financial through  other liabilities
atfairvalue assets carried comprehensive carried at
through profi ~ atamortised income (Investment amortised
andloss cost securities) cost Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets—2018
Cashand bank balances 150707 - - 150707
Loans and advances to customers - 194675 - 194 675
Treasury bills - 3377 282 666 - 286043
Unquoted equity securities - - 6 335 - 6335
Clearancebalancesduefrombanks 653 - - 653
Otherassets - 3337 - - 3337
Total - 352 749 289 001 - 641750
Liabilities—2018
Customer deposits - - - 553564 553564
Deposits fromother banks - - - 2905 2905
Foreign Exchange spot - 1 - - 1
Total - 1 - 556 469 556 470
Financial
Available liabilities
forsale carried at
Derivative Loansand fi amortised instruments
receivables  assets cost Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets-2017
Cash and bank balances - 278 570 - - 278570
Loansand advancesto customers 112 038 - 112 038
Treasury bills - 110 239 1026 - 111265
Unquoted equity securities - - 4209 - 4209
Itemsin courseof collection fromother banks - 713 - - 713
Swapsand FECs 4 - - - 4
Total 4 501 560 5235 - 506799
Liabilities—2017
Customer deposits - - - 443783 443783
Deposits from other banks - - - 6233 6233
Swaps and FECs 2 - - R 2
Bankbalances dueto group companies - - - - -
Total 2 - - 450016 450018

Risk management

Financial risk management objectives

The Bank’s business involves taking on risks in a targeted manner and managing them professionally. The
corefunctions of the Bank’s risk management are to identify all key risks for the Bank, measure these risks,
managetherisk positions and determinecapital allocations. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and best market practice.

The Bank’s aimis to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse
effects onthe Bank’s financial performance.

The Bank defines risk as the possibility of losses or profits foregone, which may be caused by internal or
external factors. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. Internal
auditand Operational Risk and Control departments are responsible for the review of risk management and
the control environment.

Therisks arising from financial instruments to which the Bank is exposed include among other risks credit
risk, liquidity risk, market risk and operational risk.

Capital risk management
Capital risk —is the risk that the Bank is unable to maintain adequate levels of capital which could lead to an
inability to support business activity or failure to meet regulatory requirements.

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is abroader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the
statementofﬂnanmal position, are:
to comply with the capital requirements set by the banking regulators;
. to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as agoing concern so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits to customers and other stakeholders and;
. to maintain a strong capital baseto support the development of its business.

Capitaladequacyand theuse of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank’s management and
theDirectors,employingtechniquesbasedonguidelinesdevelopedbytheBasel Committeeasimplemented
bytheReserve Bank of Zimbabwe for supervisory purposes. The Bank’s regulatory capital comprises
of three tiers;

. Tier 1 Capital: comprises contributed capital,accumulated profits, sharebased payment reserveand
currency translation reserve.

. Tier 2 Capital:comprises impairmentallowance, revaluation reserveand partof currency translationreserve.

. Tier 3 Capital: comprises operational and market risk capital.

The Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe requires each bank to maintain a core capital adequacy ratio of 8%and total
capital adequacy ratio of 12%. The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the
ratios of the Bank.

2018 2017

$000 $000
Share capital 215 215
Share premium 23837 23764
Accumulated profits 72 966 48 960
Impairmentreserve 611 -
Sharebasedpaymentreserve 1228 1205
Fairvaluethrough otherincomereserve 4926 2930
Currencytranslationreserve 3508 3508
Total core capital 107 291 80582
Less marketand operational risk capital (15 151) (10 087)
Less exposures to insiders (2 088) -
Tier 1 capital 90 052 70 495
Currency translation reserve 4277 4277
Revaluation reserve 4935 3456
General provisions (limited to 1.25%of weighted risk assets) 4844 2 755
Tier 2 capital 14 056 10 488
Total tier 1 & 2 capital 104 108 80983
Market risk 2574 1003
Operational risk 12577 9084
Tier 3 capital 15151 10 087
Total tier 1 and 2 & 3 capital base 119 259 91 070
Less deductions from capital (7812) (4218)
Creditrisk weighted assets 260 172 182 526
Operational risk equivalentassets 157 207 113 545
Market risk equivalent assets 32176 12 539
Total risk weighted assets (RWAs) 449 555 308 610
Tier 1 capital ratio 20.0% 22.8%
Tier 1and 2 capital ratio 24.0% 26.2%
Total capital adequacy ratio 24.8% 28.1%

Creditrisk capital - is subject to guidelines provided by the regulator which are based on Basel 1 principles.
On this approach the banking book exposures are categorised into broad classes of assets with different
underlying risk characteristics. Risk components are transformed into risk weighted assets using
predetermined exposure and loss probability factors. Capital requirements for credit risk are derived from
therisk weighted assets.

Market risk capital - is assessed using regulatory guidelines which consider the risk characteristics of the
different trading book assets. Risk components are transformed into risk weighted assets and, therefore,
capitalrequirements, based on predetermined exposure andloss probability factors.

Operationalrisk capital-is assessedusing thestandardised approach. Thisapproachistiedtoaveragegross

income over threeyears per regulated business lines as indicator of scale of operations. Total capital charge
foroperational risk equalsthesumofcharges perbusinesslines.
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Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open
positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific
market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates,
creditspreads, foreign exchangerates and equity prices.

The Bank separates exposures to market risk into either trading or banking book. Trading portfolios include
those positions arising from market—-making transactions where the Bank acts as principal with clients or
with the market; this is mainly to support client trading activity.

Non trading book primarily arises fromthe management of the Bank’s retail and commercial banking assets
andliabilities.

Marketrisk measurement techniques

Theobjectiveof marketrisk measurementisto manage and control marketrisk exposures withinacceptable
limits while optimising the return on risk.

INe measurement teCNNIQUes USed 10 Measure ana CoNtrol Market risk INcluge:

(i) Daily Value at Risk (“DVaR”)
The Bank applies a ‘value at risk’ (“VaR”) methodology to its banking portfolios to estimate the market risk

of positions held if current positions were to be held unchanged for one business day.

Value at Risk is a statistically based estimate of the potential loss on the current portfolio from adverse market
movements. It expresses the maximum amount the Bank might lose but only to a certain level of confi nce.
There is therefore a statistical probability that actual loss could be greater than the VaR’ estimate. The ‘VaR’
model makes assumptions on the pattern of market movements based on historical holding periods. The use
of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these limits in the event of more signifi market move-
ments. ‘DVaR’ is an estimate of the potential loss which might arise from unfavourable market movements, if
the current positions were held unchanged for one business day, measured to a confi of 99% Daily losses
exceeding the ‘DVaR’fi arelikely tooccur, on average twice in every 100 business days.

(ii) Stress tests
Stresstests provideanindication of losses that could arisein extreme positions.

Foreignexchangestressrisk (currency stress)isthe potential loss againstthe Bankifthereis alargeforeign
exchange movement (expected oncein every five years).

Thetable below summarises the DVaR statistics for the Bank relating to currency stress.

Onedayrisk High Medium Low Year-enc
Type of risk or activity $000 $000 $000 $00¢
Currency VaR at 31 December 2018 9 3 - 1
Currency VaR at 31 December 2017 10 3 - -
Two week risk High Medium Low Year-end
Type of risk or activity $000 $000 $000 $000
Currency VaR at 31 December 2018 27 1 1 2
Currency VaR at 31 December 2017 33 8 1 1

ALCO closely monitors this risk. The Bank is satisfied with its risk management processes and systems in
placewhichhaveenabledtheBankto minimiselosses.

Net interestincome sensitivity (“NII”)
NIl measures the sensitivity of annual earnings to changes in interestrates. Nil is calculated ata10%change
in interest rates.

TheBank’sinterestincomesensitivityis shown below:

2018 2017

Impact on earnings Impacton capital

Changesininterest $000 $000
1000bps increaseininterestrates 17 410 22 623
1000bps decreaseininterestrates (17 410) (22 623)
Benchmark - -

(iii) Economic capital
Economic capital methodologies are used to calculate risk sensitive capital allocations for businesses
incurring marketrisk. Consequently the businessesincur capital charges related to their market risk

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the Bank will be adversely affected by changes in the level or volatility of
market interest rates. The Bank is exposed to various risks associated with the effects of fl s in
the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its fi position and cash fl ws. The responsibility of
managing interest rate risk lies with the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). On a day to day basis,
risks are managed through a number of management committees. Through this process, the Bank monitors
compliance within the overall risk policy framework and ensures that the framework is kept up to date. Risk
managementinformation is provided on aregular basis to the Risk and Control Committee and the Board.

Thetable below summarises the Bank’s interest rate risk exposure.

Non-

Upto 1to3 3to6 6months 1to5 interest

1 month  months months to1year years  bearing Total
31 December 2018 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $00C
Assets
Cash and bank balances 139 615 - - - - 11092 150707
Availablefor saleinvestments 23253 71990 60206 127217 - 6335 289001
Loansandreceivablesfrombanks 653 - 3377 - - - 4030
Loans and advances to customers 194 675 - - - - - 194675
Other assets - - - - - 8553 8553
Property and equipment - - - - - 30602 30602
Investment property - - - - - 5145 5145
Non-currentassets held for sale - - - - - 14829 14829
Currenttaxassets - - - - - 1202 1202
Total assets 358196 71990 63583 127217 - 77758 698744
Liabilities
Derivative liabilities - - - - - 1 1
Deposits from Banks 2905 - - - - - 2905
Depositsfromcustomers 526 019 22527 5018 - - - 553564
Provisions - - - - - 3163 3163
Other liabilities - - - - - 18 054 18 054
Balancesdueto Groupcompanies - - - - - 1 806 1 806
Deferred income tax liabilities - - - - - 2 748 2 748
Total liabilities 528924 22527 5018- - 25 772 582 241 |Interest rate
re-pricing gap (170728) 49463 58565 127217 - 51 986 116 503

Cumulative gap (170728) (121265) (62700) 64517 64517 116503 -
Non-
Upto 1to3 3to6 6months 1to5 interest

1 month months months to 1 year years bearing Total
31 December 2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets
Cash and bank balances 266 229 - - - - 12341 278570
Derivative assets - - - - - 4 4
Loans and receivables from banks 1319- 5045 101552 3036 110 952
Loans and advances to customers 112038 - - - - 112 038
Other assets - - - - - 7578 7578
Property and equipment - - - - - 20621 20621
Investment property - - - - - 5 145 5 145
Non-currentassets held for sale - - - - - 14 829 18 429
Currenttaxassets - - - - - 637 637
Total assets 379 586 - 5045 102065 3549 65364 555609
Derivative liabilities - - - - - 2 2
Deposits from Banks 6233 - - - - - 6233
Depositsfromcustomers 442 276 1507 - - - - 443783
Provisions - - - - - 2376 2376
Other liabilities - - - - - 12 435 12 435
Deferred income tax liabilities - - - - - 2 465 2 465
Total liabilities 448 509 1507 - - - 17 278 467 294

Interest rate re-pricing gap
Cumulative gap

(68923) (1507) 5045 102065 3549 48086 88315
(68923) (70430) (65385) 36680 40229 _ 88315 -
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Foreign exchange risk

This is arisk that the value of a fi
to changes in the exchange rate. The Bank takes on exposures to the effects of fl
foreign currency exchange rates in the fiposition and cash fl ws. Foreign exchange risk is managed
through use of Daily Value at Risk techniques and Stress tests. In addition mismatches on foreign exchange
assets and liabilities are minimised through the daily monitoring of the net foreign exchange exposure by
treasury.Currency swaps are alsousedto manageforeign exchangeriskwhere necessary.

liability or asset denominated in foreign currency will fl e due
in the prevailing

Thetable below summarises the Bank’s fi instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.

The probability of default (PD)- is the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per
“Definition of default and credit-impaired” below), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the
remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. PDs are modelled using historic data into 12 month and
Lifetime PDs. Where data is not available proxies which resemble the risk of default characteristics of the
exposure are used. The PDs are determined at portfolio level and segmented into various products.

PDs modelled using historical data are then adjusted for forward looking factors. PDs are mapped into
regulatorygrades as follows:

Corporate exposures

Stage 1| 12 Month PD | Central Bank Account Grades 1to 3 or First Capital Bank Grade Good Book, or Pass
Stage 2| Life Time PD | Central Bank Account Grades 4to 7, or First Capital Bank Grades EWL 1 & EWL 2, or Special Mention

Central Bank Account Grade 8to 10, or First Capital Bank Grades EWL 3 &
Stage 3| Default PD Classified, or Substandard, or worse

Retail exposures

Stage 1| 12 Month PD | First Capital Bank grades bucket0 & bucket 1, or good book & pass

Other
GBP Rand  foreign
USD (USDequiv) (USDequiv) currency Total
At 31 December 2018 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets
Cash and bank balances 145 735 758 2427 1787 150707
Availablefor saleinvestments 289 001 - - - 289001
Loans and advances to banks 4030 - - - 4030
Loans and advances to customers 194 675 - - - 194675
Other assets 3337 - - - 3337
Total assets 636 778 758 2427 1787 641750
Liabilities
Derivative financial instrument - - - 1 1
Depositsfrombanks 2905 - - - 2905
Depositsfromcustomers 548 430 778 2634 1722 553564
Other liabilities 17 595 262 142 55 18 054
Balancesduetogroupcompanies 1806 - - - 1806
Total liabilities 570 736 1040 2776 1778 576 330
Net currency positions 66 042 282 349 9 65420
Other
foreign
GBP Rand currency
USD (USDequiv) (USDequiv) (USDequiv) Total
At 31 December 2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets
Cash and bank balances 275 649 401 1134 1386 278570
Derivativefinancial instruments - - - 4 4
Availablefor saleinvestments 5235 - - - 5235
Loans and advances to banks 110 952 - - - 110952
Loans and advances to customers 112 038 - - - 112038
Other assets 3082 - - - 3082
Total assets 506 956 401 1134 1390 509881
Liabilities
Derivative financial instrument - - - 2 2
Depositsfrombanks 5796 - 436 1 6233
Depositsfromcustomers 438 363 534 3107 1779 442792
umer naoiiues 11 854 409 74v] 1Uz 12 430
Totartfabitities 256 013 793 3763 1884 462453
Net currency positions 50 943 (392) (2 629) (494) 47 428

AlsorefertoNotel6whichexplains cashand bank balances.

Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss should the Bank’s customers, clients or market counterparties fail to
fulfil their contractual obligations to the Bank. The Bank actively seeks to originate and manage credit risk
in such away as to achieve sustainable asset growth and risk adjusted returns in line with board-approved
risk parameters. The credit risk that the Bank faces arises mainly from corporate and retail loans advances
and counterparty credit risk arising from derivative contracts entered into with our clients. Other sources of
credit risk arise from treasury bills, government bonds, settlement balances with counterparties and bank
balances with Central Bank and other related banks. Credit risk management objectives are;

. Supporting the achievement of sustainable asset and revenue growth in line with our risk parameters

. Operatingsound creditgranting processesand monitoringcreditriskusingappropriate modelstoassist
decisionmaking

. Ensurecreditrisktakingis based onsound creditrisk management principles and controls

. Continuallyimproving collectionand recovery

a) Risklimitand mitigation policies
TheBank uses arange of policies and practices to mitigate creditrisk. Theseinclude credit scoring, marking limits
againstcounter parties, creditinsurance,and monitoring cashfl wsand utilisationagainstlimitand collateral.

PrlnC|paI collateraltypes usedforloansandadvancesare:
Mortgages over residential and commercial properties; and

. Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable, moveable assets
and shares.

. Cash cover

Thelegal department is responsible for conducting suffi legal review to confi  that the approved collateral
islegally effective. Ratio of value of loanto value of security is assessed on grant date and continuously monitored.

b) Creditrisk grading

Corporate Exposures

The Bank uses internal credit risk gradings that reflect its assessment of the probability of default of
individual counterparties. The Bank use internal rating models tailored to the various categories of
counterparty. Borrower and loan specific information collected at the time of application (such as level
of collateral; and turnover and industry type for wholesale exposures) is fed into this rating model. This is
supplemented with external data such as credit bureau scoring information on individual borrowers. In
addition, the models enable expert judgement to be fed into the fi internal credit rating for each exposure.
This allows for considerations which may not be captured as part of the other data inputs into the model.

Thecreditscores fromthis model are mapped to theregulatory scale with 10 grades. Arelationship manager
will incorporate any updated or new information/credit assessments into the credit system on an ongoing
basis. In addition, the relationship manager will also update information about the creditworthiness of the
borrower every year from sources such as public financial statements. This will determine the updated
internal credit rating. Corporate exposures are monitored by grading exposures into early warning list for
those customers who are believed to be facing difficulties. Customers are categorised into Early Warning
Lists (‘EWL”)1-3. Thosein EWL1 havetemporary problems and therisk of defaultis low. EWL2implies there
are doubts that the customer will pay but the risk of default is medium. EWL3 implies that there are doubts
that the customer will pay and the risk of defaultis high.

Retail exposures

After the date of initial recognition, for retail business, the payment behaviour of the borrower is monitored
on a periodic basis to develop a behavioural internal credit rating. Any other known information about the
borrower which impacts their creditworthiness such as unemployment and previous delinquency historyis
also incorporated into the behavioural internal credit rating. These ratings are reflected on the following
delinquency bucket; Performing loans (Bucket 0); 1day to 30 days pastdue (Bucket 1); 30 days to 60 days past
due (Bucket 2); 60 days to 89 days past due (Bucket 3) and 90 days+ past due (default,Bucket 4).

c) Expected credit losses measurement (ECLS)
IFRS9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognmon as summarised below:

Stagel: Afi instrument thatis not credit-impaired oninitial recognitionis classifi in ‘Stage1’and
has itscreditrisk continuously monitored by the Bank.
. Stage 2: If asignifi increasein creditrisk (‘SICR’) since initial recognitionis identifi  thefi

instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. Please refer to note 29.3(d)
below for adescription of how the Bank determines when a signifi increaseincreditriskhasoccurred.

. Stage 3: Ifthefi instrument s credit-impaired, thefi instrumentis then movedto ‘Stage 3'.
Pleaserefer tolifetime ECLs - defaultbelow for adescriptionofhowtheBankdefi  creditimpaired and default.

The expected credit loss (ECL) - is measured on either a 12 - month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is
considered to be credit impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the Probability of
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), defined as follows:

9

[ Stage 2| Life Time PD_| First Capital Bank grades bucket 2 & bucket 3, or special mention
| Stage 3| Default PD First Capital Bank grade bucket 4, or substandard, or worse

Treasury exposures

For debt securities in the treasury portfolio and interbank exposures, performance of the counterparty is
monitored for any indication of default. PDs for such exposures are determined based on benchmarked
national ratings mapped to external credit rating agencies grade. For other bank balances where there are
external creditratings PDs are derived using those external credit ratings.

Exposure at default (EAD) -is the amount the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next
12 months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For a revolving commitment, the EAD
includes the current drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn up by the time of
default, should it occur. For termloans EAD is the term limit while for short term loans and retail loans EAD
isthedrawn balance. Debt securities and interbank balances EAD is the current balance sheet exposure

Loss given default (LGD) -represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure.
LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit
support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is
calculated on a 12-month or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be
made if the default occurs in the next 12 months and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to
be made if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the loan. LGD is modelled based
onhistorical data. LGD for sovereign exposure is based onobservedrecoveryrates for similar economies.

Default

The Bank considers afinancial asset to bein default when:

. Theborrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without recourse by the Bank
toactionssuchasrealising security (ifanyis held); or

. Thefinancial assetis more than 90 days past due.

Thethree ECL Stages aresummarised below:

i)12month ECLs; (Stage 1-noincreasein creditrisk)

ECLs measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default
events possiblewithin the next 12 months. The 12 month ECL is calculated for the following exposures:

. Corporate loans with regulatory grades from1-3
. Retail loans graded in bucket 0 and bucket 1
. Debtsecurities, loans to banks and bank balances which are not pastdue

Theseare aproduct of 12 months PD, 12 months LGDand EAD.

ifetime ECLs (Stage 2 - significant increaseincre efer tg 29.3d
saremeasure gge one pec(fedcreglrt?ossesonalfj P [)aseis ?tlsmeazsuredforthefollowmgexposures

Corporate loans with regulatory grades from grade 4 to grade 7 (Early Warning List 1 and Early
Warning List 2)

. Retailloans in bucket 2 to 3 (bucket 2 is 30 days to 60 days past due, bucket 3 is 60 days to 90 days pastdue)

. Debtsecurities, loans to banks and bank balances wherethe creditrisk has significantlyincreased
sinceinitial recognition

. These are a product of lifetime PD, lifetime LGD and EAD

iii) Life time ECLs (Stage 3 - default)
ECLsaremeasuredbasedonexpectedcreditlossesonalifetimebasis. Thisismeasured onthefollowingexposures.

. All creditimpaired/in default corporate and retail loans and advances to banks and other debt securities
in default.

. Theseare corporates in regulatory grade 8- 10 (EWL3) and retail loans in bucket 4

. Exposureswhichare90days+pastdue

. These are aproduct of default PD, lifetime LGD and EAD.

d) Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and
includingforward-lookinginformation.

The assessment of significant increase in credit risk incorporates forward looking information and is
performed on a monthly basis at a portfolio level for all retail loans. Corporate and treasury exposures
are assessed individually through the Early Warning list which is reviewed monthly and monitored by
an independent team in credit risk department, and quarterly reviews by the Impairment Committee of
exposuresagainstperformancecriteria.

Significantincreaseincreditrisk - Quantitative measures

. Corporate loans -if the loan is reclassified from regulatory grades 1 -3to grades 4-7
. Retail loans -if the loan is reclassified from buckets 0 and 1 to buckets 2to 3
. Treasuryexposureswhicharepastdue.

Significantincreasein creditrisk - Qualitative measures retail

. Extension of credit terms
. Retrenchment/dismissal ofemployee
. Employer facing financial difficulties

Salary diversion.

Slgnlflcantlncreaselncredltnsk Qualitative measures corporateand treasury
Borrower is on Early Warning list 1&2 (EWL 1 and EWL2)
. Significantadversechangesinbusiness,financialoreconomic conditionsinwhich theborrower
operatesin
Actual or expected forbearance or restructuring of debt
Early signs of cash flow/liquidity problems suchasdelayinservicing debt
Significantdeclineinaccountturnover
Breach ofsignificantdebt covenants
Qualifying modified loans
Delay in settlement of obligations.

e e o o o o

e) Benchmarking Expected Credit Loss

Corporate

Due to lack of sufficient historical information on corporate portfolio defaults from which PDs and LGDs
are derived, a judgemental benchmarking is used parallel to the corporate model output. The higher of
benchmarking ECLandthe model outputis considered as thefinal ECL.

Treasury
ECL fortreasuryexposuresis based onbenchmarked PDs and LGDsduetolack of historical data.

Retail
ECL forretail exposures aretotallybased on model output withno benchmarking comparative sinceenough
historical default datawas available when designing the calculation model.

f) Forward-lookinginformationincorporatedinthe ECL models

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECLs both incorporate forward-looking information. The
Bank has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk and
expected credit losses for each portfolio. The key economic variables identified were GDP growth, interest
rates and import cover ratio.

Theseeconomicvariablesandtheirassociatedimpactonthe ECLvarybyfi instrument. Expert judgment
has also been appliedin this process. Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”)are
sourced from Reserve Bank Monetary Policy, Ministry of Finance Fiscal updates, World Bank/ IMF and BMI
Research economic forecast and provide the best estimate view of the economy over the next fi e years.

After five years, to project the economic variables out for the full remaining lifetime of each instrument,
amean reversion approach has been used, which means that economic variables tend to either along run
averagerate (e.g.along run average growth rate such as GDP over a period of two to five years). The impact
of these economic variables on the PD has been determined by performing statistical regression analysis to
understand theimpactchanges in these variables have had historically on default rates.
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g) Write — offs - The Bank will write off retail accounts following charge off of the account if the equivalent
of aninstalmentis not recovered cumulatively over a12-month period post charge off. Corporate accounts
are written off once security has been realised depending on the residual balance and further recovery
prospects. The corporate write off policy is not rules based, or time bound.

h) ECL model governance

The models used for PD, EAD and LGD calculations are governed on a day to day through the Impairments
Committee. This committee comprises of senior managers in risk, fi and the business. Decisions and
key judgements made by the Impairments Committee relating to the impairments and model overrides will
be taken to Board Risk, Board Loans and Board Audit Committee. Credit risk processes from origination to
monitoringandother operational processesaroundimpairments nowtakeintocognisancelFRS9requirements.

Maximum exposureto creditrisk by credit quality grade before credit enhancements

Loansand Loansand
Internal EC advances advances Guarantees Investment Bank Other
grade Stage tobanks to customers provided  Securities balancesassets Total
U1S SUUU SUUU SUUU SUUU SUUU HUUU SUUU
Credit exposure
Performing assets 1-3 1 4037 191 960 9972 282666 128597 3337 620569
Standardmonitoring 4-7 2 - 7598 - - - - 7598
Non-performing loans 8-10 3 - 1977 - - - - 1977
Interest in suspense - - (375) - - - - (375)
Grossexposure 4037 201 160 9972 282666 128597 3337 629 769
Loansand Loans

Intemal  ECL advances andadvances Guarantees Investment Bank Other
grade Stage tobanks to customers provided  Securities balancesassets Total

2017 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000 $000 $000

Credit exposure

Neither past duenor

impaired 110 952 113111 5490 1026 262785 3082 496 446
Pastduebutnotimpaired - 955 955
Individuallyimpaired

excluding non-performing - 561 561
Non-performing loans - 2617 - - - - 2617
Interest in suspense - (396) - - - - (396)
Grossexposure 110952 116 848 5490 1026 262785 3082 500183

The above table represents aworst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2018,
without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-statement of
financial position assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the
statement of financial position. Bank balances, excluding $90 077 428 held at Central Bank are held with
banks which havethe following credit ratings:

The Bank has aninternal rating scale which is mapped into the Basel Il grading system. The internal rating is
broadlyclassified into; performing loans, standard monitoring and non-performing.

Performing loans
Loans and advances not past due and which are not part of renegotiated loans are considered to be
performing assets.

Standard monitoring grade
These are loans and advances which are less than 90 days past due and in some cases not pastdue but the
business hassignificantconcernontheperformanceofthatexposure.

Non-performing grade

These are loans and overdrafts on which interest is no longer accrued or included in income unless the
customer pays back. These non-performing (past due) assets include balances where the principal amount
and /or interestis due and unpaid for 90 days or more.

Loans and advances renegotiated
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Bank did not have any renegotiated loans and advances to
customers and banks.

Expected credit losses analysis and reconciliation

Stage2-
Stage 1-12 Lifetime ECL not

Stage3-
Lifetime ECL

month ECL  creditimpaired creditimpaired Total
2018 $000 $000 $000  $000
Balance at beginning of the year 2852 847 1621 5320
Movements with profitand loss impact:
New fi assets purchased or originated 576 - - 576
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 3 - - 355 355
Transfers from stage 2to stage 1 (304) - (304)
Changes to model assumptions 1940 - - 1940
Total profit and loss impact 2516 (304) 355 2567
Other movements with no profi and loss impact
Bad debts written off - - (751) (751)
Balance at as at 31 December 2018 5368 543 1225 7136
Reconciliationof ECLbyexposure
Loans and
Retail Corporate advances Investment Other Bank

loans loans tobanks  securities assets balances Total
$000 $000 $000 $000  $000 $000  $000
Balance at beginning of the year 2342 2050 928 - - - 5320
Chargetoprofitand loss (592) 3435 (921) 611 - 34 2567
Write offs (635) (116) - - - - (751)
Total impairment 1115 5369 7 611 - 34 7136
Contribution by stage
Stage 1-12month ECL 608 4108 7 611 - 34 5368
Stage2-LifetimeECLnotcreditimpaired 25 518 543
Stage3-Lifetime ECL creditimpaired 482 743 1 225
Total impairment 1115 5369 7 611 - 34 7136
Unidentified Identified  Total
$000 $000  $000
2017
Balance at the beginning of the year 3309 1975 5284
Bad debts written off - (608)  (608)
Increaseinimpairmentprovision (554) 689 135
Balance at end of the period 2755 2056 4811
10
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Loans and advances credit risk concentration

2018 2017

Industry/Sector $000 % $000 %
Trade and services 50782 25 20451 17
Energy and minerals 2032 1 6239 5
Agriculture 47 851 24 10542 9
Constructionand property 104 - 1201 1
Lightand heavyindustry 18 782 9 21672 18
Physical persons 49 532 25 48 843 43
Transportand distribution 32 353 16 8293 7
Financialservices 99 - - -
Total 201535 100 117 241 100

Nonperforming  Write off Impairment
2018 Total loans loans (recoveries) Recoveries allowance
Industry/Sector $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Trade and services 50782 - - - -
Energy and minerals 2032 - - - -
Agriculture 47 851 892 116 - 743
Constructionand property 104 - - - -
Lightand heavyindustry 18 782 - - -
Physicalpersons 49 532 1085 635 106
482
Transport and distribution 32353 - -
Financial services 99 - - - -
Gross value at 31 December 2018 201 535 1977 751 106 1225

Non performing Write offs/  Impairment

2017 Totalloans loans (recoveries) allowance
Industry/Sector $000 $000 $000 $000
Eredg\paddeninezals 20 289 - - -
Agriculture 10 542 1016 - 453
Constructionand property 1201 - -
Lightand heavyindustry 21672 - - -
Physicalpersons 48 843 2162 608 1603
Transportanddistribution 8293 - -
Gross value at 31 December 2017 117 241 3178 08 2056

Collateral held for exposure
An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans and advances
tocustomers areas shown below:

2018 2017
$000 $000
Performing loans 72 808 30 488
Non-performing loans 400 203
Total 3208 30691

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank may fail to meet its payment obligations when they fall due and to
replace funds when they are withdrawn, the consequences of which may be the failure to meet the obligations
torepay deposits and fulfi commitments to lend. Liquidity risk is inherent in all banking operations and can be
affected by arange of Bank specifi and market wide events. The effi management of liquidity is essential
to the Bank in maintaining confi in the fi markets and ensuring thatthe businessis sustainable.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established
an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Bank’s short, medium and
long term funding and liquidity management requirements.

L|qU|d|tyr|sk managementobjectivesare;
Growing and diversifying the funding base to support asset growth and other strategic initiatives,
balanced with a strategy to reduce the weighted cost of funds;

. To maintain the market confidence in the Bank;

. Maintaining adequate levels of surplus liquid asset holdings in order to remain within the liquidity
risk appetite;

. Setearly warning indicators to identify the emergence of increased liquidity risk or vulnerabilities;

. Tomaintain acontingency funding plan thatis comprehensive.

Liquidity risk management process
Liquidity risk is managed as;
a) Business as usual referring to the management of cash inflows and outflows of the bank in the ordinary
courseof business.
b) Stress liquidity risk — refers to management of liquidity risk during times of unexpected outflows. The
Bank’s Assets and Liabilities Committee (“ALCO”) monitors and manages liquidity risk. The Bank’s liquidity
managementprocess ascarried outbythe ALCOand Treasuryunitsincludes:
Day to day funding and monitoring of future cash flows to ensure that funding requirements are met;
. Maintaining ahigh balance of cash or near cash balances that can easily be liquidated as protection
against unforeseen funding gaps;
. Monitoring liquidity ratios againstinternal and regulatory benchmarks;
. Limits aresetacrossthebusinesstocontrolliquidity risk;
. Earlywarning indicators are setto identify the emergence of increased liquidity risk;
. Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by ALCOto maintain awide diversifi of sourceoffunding;
. Managingconcentrationofdeposits

Liquidity ratios

2018 2017
$000 $000
Totalliquidassets 401 656 385549
Depositsfromcustomers 583 257 464 829
Liquidity ratio 69% 83%
Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe minimum 30% 30%

Liquidity profiling as at 31 December 2018

The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. The assets which
are used to manage liquidity risk, which is mainly cash and bank balances and investment securities are also
included on the table based on the contractual maturity profile.

On balance sheet items as at 31 December 2018

Assetsheldformanagingliquidityrisk  Less than 1to3 3to 6 6-12 1to5 5+ Carrying
(contractual maturity dates) 1 month months months months years years Total  amount
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000 $000 $000

Cashand bank balances 126 565 - - - 126565 150707
Investmentsecurities 24404 74764 61171 130412 - - 290751 289001
Loans and advances to banks 653 - 3433 - - - 4086 4030
Loans and advances to customers 63810 23715 13612 42579 92534 6614 242864 194675
Otherassets 3337 - - - - - 3337 8553
Currentincometaxasset - 1202 - - - - 1202 1202
Total assets 218769 99681 78216 172991 92534 6614 668805 -
Liabilities

Derivativefi instruments 1 - - - - - 1 1
DepositsfromBanks 2905 - - - - - 2905 2905
Customer accounts 526019 22527 5018 - - - 553564 553564
Provisions 857 2 306 - - - - 3163 3163
Other liabilities 18 054 - - - - 18 054 18 054
BalancesduetoGroupcompanies 1806 - - - - - 1806 1806
Total liabilities - (contractual maturity) 549 642 24 8335 018 - - - 579493 579493 Liquidity

(330873) 77848 73198 172991 92534 6614 89312 -
(330873) (256025) (182827) (9836)82698 89312 - -

gap
Cumulative liquiditygap

Contingentliabilities and commitments as at 31 December 2018

Lessthan 1to3 3to6 6-12 1to5

1 month months months months years Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets
Guarantees and letters of credit 6563 1630 945 700 134 9972
Commitment to lend 13356 3936 1081 6163 9946 34 482
Total assets 19919 5566 2026 6 863 10 080 44 454
Liabilities
Guarantees and letters of credit 6563 1630 945 700 134 9972
Commitment to lend 34482 - - - - 34482
Total liabilities 41045 1630 945 700 134 44 454

Liquidity gap (21126) 3936 1081 6163 9946
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Liquidity profiling as at 31 December 2017
On balance sheet items as at 31 December 2017

Lessthan 1to3 3to6 6-12 1to5 5+ Carrying
1 month months months months years years Total amount
$000 __ $000 $000 $000 _$000 _$000 $000 $000
Assets
Cash and bank balances 278 570 - - - - - 278570 278 570
Derivative fi instruments 4 - - - - - 4 4
Availablefor saleinvestments - - 591 577 - - 1168 5235
Loans and advances to banks 613 689 5495 107546 3383 - 117726 110952
Loans and advancesto customers 5994 35239 9804 24829 48789 5501 130156 112038
Other assets 3082 - - - - - 3082 3082
Currentincometaxasset - 637 - - - - 637 637
Total assets 288623 36565 15890 132952 52172 5501 531343 -
Liabilities
Derivativefi instruments 2 - - - - - 2 2
Deposits from Banks 6233 - - - - - 6233 6233
Customer accounts 442276 7050 - 6622 105 - 456053 443 783
Provisions 340 2036 - - - - 2376 2376
Other liabilities due to Group
companies 12 435 - - - - - 12435 12 435
Total liabilities - (contractual maturity) 461286 9 086 - 6622 105 -__477099 -
Liquidity gap (173023) 27479 15890 126330 52067 5501 54244

Cumulativeliquiditygap (173023) (145544) (129654) 3324 48743 54244

Contingentliabilities and commitments as at 31 December 2017

Lessthan 1to3 3to6 6-12 1to5
1 month months months months years Total
$000  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets
Guarantees and letters of credit 2138 5893 652 714 1491 10889
Commitment to lend 3113 41674 1211 16292 24651 86941

Total assets 5251 47567 1863 17006 26142 97829

Liabilities

Guarantees and letters of credit 2138 5893 652 714 1491 10888
Commitment to lend 86 941 - - - 86941
Total liabilities 89079 5893 652 714 1491 97829
Liquidity gap (83828) 41674 1211 16292 24651 B

The Bank determines ideal weights for maturity time buckets which are used to benchmark the actual maturity
profi Maturity mismatches across the time buckets are managed through the tenor of new advances and the
profi of time deposits by ALCO and should the need arise through support from First Capital Group.

Otherrisks

Strategicrisk

Theroles of the chairman and the managing director are not vested in the same person. The executive team
formulates the strategy under the guidance of the Board which approves it. The executive directors bear the
responsibility to execute the approved strategy. The Board reviews the performance and suitability of the
strategy at least quarterly.

Legal and compliance risk

The Risk Management Committee ensures that the management and operations of the Bank’s business
is done within the governance and regulatory control framework established by First Capital Group, the
Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe and other regulatory bodies. A dedicated legal and compliance unitisin place to
monitor legal and compliance requirements and ensure that they are met on a daily basis.

Reputation risk

The Bank adheres to very strict reputation standards set for First Capital Group based on its chosen set of
values. The Human Resources Committee of the Board assists the Board in ensuring that staff complies with
set policies and practices consistent with the reputation demands of both the Bank and the industry. The
compliance unit and human resources function monitor compliance by both management and staff with the
Bank’s ethical codes and compliance standards in managing conduct risk.

Operationalrisk

This is the risk of losses arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and/or systems or
from external events. A significant part of the Bank’s operations are automated and processed in the core
banking system. Key banking operations in corporate and investment banking, retail and business banking
and treasury are heavily dependent on the Bank’s core banking system. The core banking system also
supports key accounting processes for financial assets, financial liabilities and revenueincluding customer
interface on mobile, internet banking and related electronic platforms.

Practices to minimise operational risk are embedded across all transaction cycles. Risk workshops are held
for the purpose of identifying major risks in the operating environment and methods of mitigating the risks. The
Bank employs the standardised approach to determine capital required to cover operational risk. Each function
carries out a risk and control assessment of their processes on a regular basis. The assessment results are
reviewed by Operational Risk Management department. Internal Audit audits selected functions at giventimes.

Risks and Ratings

The Central Bank conducts regular examinations of Banks and financial institutions it regulates. The last
on-site examination of the Bank was as at 30 June 2016 and it assessed the overall condition of the Bank
to be satisfactory. Thisis ascore of “2” onthe CAMELS rating scale. The CAMELS rating evaluates banks on
capital adequacy, asset quality, management and corporate governance, liquidity and funds management
and sensitivity to market risks.

TheCAMELSandRisk AssessmentSystem(RAS)ratingsaresummarisedinthefollowingtables;

CAMELSratings

CAMELS component Latest Rating - June 2016
Capital 1-Strong

Asset quality 2 - Satisfactory
Management 2-Satisfactory

Earnings 1-Strong

Liquidityand funds management 2 - Satisfactory
Sensitivity to market risk 1-Strong

Summaryrisk matrix -June 2016 on-site supervision

Level of Adequacy of risk

Typeof risk inherentrisk | manag

Credit Low

Liquidity
Foreign exchange Low Strong Low
Interestrate Low Strong Low

Moderate Strong
Moderate Strong
Moderate Acceptable

Strategicrisk
Operational risk
Legal and compliance

Reputation Moderate Strong
Overall Moderate Strong

Interpretation of risk matrix

Level of inherentrisk

Low - reflects lower than average probability of an adverse impact on a banking institution’s capital and
earnings. Losses in afunctional area with low inherent risk would have little negative impact on the banking
institution’s overall financial condition.

Moderate - could reasonably be expected to resultin aloss which could be absorbed by a banking institution
inthenormal courseofbusiness.

High - reflects a higher than average probability of potential loss. High inherentrisk could reasonably be
expectedto resultinasignificant and harmful loss to the banking institution.

Adequacyofriskmanagementsystems

Weak - risk management systems are inadequate or inappropriate given the size, complexity and risk
profile of the banking institution. Institution’s risk management systems are lacking in important ways and
therefore a cause of more than normal supervisory attention. The internal control systems will be lacking in
important aspects, particularly as indicated by continued exceptions or by the failure to adhere to written
policies and procedures.

Acceptable - management of risk is largely effective but lacking to some modest degree. While the
institution might be having some minor risk management weaknesses, these have beenrecognised and are
beingaddressed. Managementinformation systems are generally adequate.
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Strong - management effectively identifies and controls all types of risk posed by the relevant functional
areas or per inherent risk. The Board and senior management are active participants in managing risk and
ensure appropriate policies and limits are putin place. The policies comprehensively define the Bank’s risk
tolerance. Responsibilities and accountabilities areeffectively communicated.

Overall compositerisk
Low - would be assigned to low inherent risk areas. Moderate risk areas may be assigned to a low composite
risk whereinternal controls and risk management systems are strong and effectively mitigate much of the risk.

Moderate - risk management systems appropriately mitigates inherent risk. For a given low risk area,
significantweaknessesintherisk managementsystems mayresultinamoderatecompositeriskassessment.
On the other hand, a strong risk management system may reduce therisk so that any potential financial loss
fromtheactivity would have only amoderate negative impact on the financial condition of the organisation.

High - risk management systems do not significantly mitigate the high inherentrisk. Thus, the activity could
potentially resultin afinancial loss that would have asignificantimpact on the Bank’s overall condition.

Direction of overall composite risk

Increasing-based on the currentinformation, risk is expected to increase in the next 12 months.
Decreasing-based on currentinformation, riskis expectedto decreasein thenext12months.
Stable-basedoncurrentinformation,riskisexpectedtobestableinthenextl2months.

External Credit Ratings

Latest credit ratings 2018/19 Previous credit ratings 2017/18

Rating agent

Global CreditRating Co. A+ AA-

The last rating was done in May 2018 and will expire in May 2019.

Fair value of financial instruments not held at fair value

The disclosed fair value of these fi assets and fi liabilities measured at amortised cost
approximate their carrying value because of their short term nature except for loans and advances which are
at variable interest rates.

2018 2017
Carrying amount Fairvalue Carryingamount Fairvalue

$000 $000 $000 $000
Financial Assets
Cash and bank balances 150 707 150 707 278 570 278 570
Loans and advances to banks 4030 4030 110 952 110 952
Loans and advances to customers 194 675 194 675 112 038 112 038
Other assets 3337 3337 3082 3082
Total assets 352 749 352 749 504 642 504 642
Balances duetootherbanks 2905 2905 6233 6233
Balances due to customers 553 564 553 564 443783 443783
Other liabilities 18 054 18 054 12 435 12 435
Total 574523 574523 462 451 462 451

Fairvalue hierarchy of assets and liabilities held at fair value

Fairvaluehierarchy

Thefollowing table provides an analysis of fi instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived frominputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
thatare observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
assetor liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$000 $000 $000 $000

2018
Recurringfairvaluemeasurements - - - -
Financial Assets - - - -
Derivative assets - - - -
Treasury bills - - 282 666 282 666

_Unguoted equity instruments - - 6 335 6335

Balance at 31 December 2018 - - 289 001 289 001
Financial Liabilities
_Derivative liabilities - 1 - 1
Balance at 31 December 2018 - 1 - 1
Non-financial assets -
Investment property - - 5145 5145
Non-currentasset held for sale - - 14 829 14 829
Balance at 31 December 2018 - - 19974 19974
Reconciliation of recurring level 3 fair value measurements
Non-current
Financial  Investment assetheld
instruments  properties for sale Total
$000 $000 $000 $000
Balance at1January 2018 5235 5145 - 10380
Additions 270 038 - 270038
Accruedinterest 11733 - - 11733
Disposals (464) - - (464)

Total gainsandlossesrecognisedinprofitorloss - -

Total gainsandlossesrecognisedinother
comprehensive income 2459 - - 3936

Balance at 31 December 2018 289 001 5145 - 295623
Balance at1January 2017 34 104 5250 14519 53873
Accruedinterest 15 - - 15
Total gainsandlossesrecognisedinprofitorloss - (105) 310 205
Maturities (31953) - - (31953)
Total gainsandlossesrecognisedinother

comprehensive income 3069 - - 3069
Balance at 31 December 2016 5235 5145 14829 25209

Segmentreporting

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Country
Management Committee (the chief operating decision-maker), which is responsible for allocating resources
tothereportable segments and assesses its performance. All operating segments used by the Bank meet the
definition of areportable segment under IFRS 8 Operating Segments. The Country Management Committee
assesses the performance of the operating segments monthly based on a measure of profit or loss. This
measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments such as
restructuring costs and legal expenses. The measure also excludes the effects of equity-settled share-based
paymentsandunrealisedgains orlossesonfinancialinstruments.

The Bank has two broad business segments:

Retail and business banking — offers various products to medium and small businesses and private individuals.
Services include direct debit facilities, current and savings accounts, investment savings products, debit
cards, consumer loans and mortgages;

Corporate and investment banking — offers services to large corporates, financial institutions and
government clients. Services include direct debit facilities, current accounts, money market deposits,
overdrafts, loans and other credit facilities and foreign currency products. The business model centres on
delivering specialists corporate and investment banking and financing solutions across asset classes.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Revenue allocated to the segments is from external customers who are domiciled in Zimbabwe. There were 36. Assets under administration
no trading revenues from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to 10%or more of the The Bank has assets for exporters and parastatals under its administration. These amounts were as aresult
Bank’s revenues. Costs incurred by support functions are allocated to the two main business segments on of the transfer of exporter and parastatals’ funds to the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe “RBZ” in the previous
the basis of determined costdrivers. years, after issuance of Exchange Control Directives by the RBZ. Final settlement of the principal amount to
the exporters and parastatals was done through the Bank’s name on the RBZ Central Securities Depository.
Segmentresults ofoperations The Bank’s role is solely of an administrative nature, involving crediting interest and principal amounts into
Retail and Business Corporateand customers’ accounts after payment by the Government of Zimbabwe and when a customer wants to move
Banking  Investment Banking Total the treasury bills to another financial institution the Bank will notify the RBZ.
5018 00 000 000 Thetreasury bills and the accrued interest are noton the Bank’s Statement of financial position.
Netinterestincome 22294 17753 40 047 37. Going concern
The directors have assessed the ability of the Bank to continue as a going concern and believe that the
Net fee and commissionincome 24 542 2926 27 468 preparation of these fi results on a going concern basis is still appropriate. Going concern assessment
Nettradingincome 3045 8790 11 835 was performed taking into account the forecasts, current economic conditions and resources that are available
Net investment income 683 719 1402 for the Bank to manage the fi and operational risks and adaptingits strategy to economic changes.
Otherincome 458 482 940 38. Events after the reporting date
Total non-interestincome 28728 12917 41 465 In the monetary policy statement of 20 February 2019, the RBZ announced the issuance of a new legal tender
TotalIncome 51 022 30670 81692 of RTGS dollars which will be the accounting and pricing currency from 22 February 2019. This was followed by
Impairment losses (774) (1687) (2 461) issuance of Statutory Instrument 33 of 2019 on 22 February 2019 to that effect. This event was deemed to be a
Net operating income 50 248 28 983 79 231 non-adjusting event fromalegal view. Therefore only the sensitivity impact to the balance sheet is disclosed.
Detailed Sensitivity analysis for events after
Staffcosts (19 329) (6079 (25 408) disclosed below will notbe the same as thet
Infrastructure costs (7 261) (1704) (8 965) _— : 1
Depreciation and amortisation (1914) (602) (2 516) Sensitivity Analysis 1
Administrative expenses (12 539) (4 658) (17 197) Total Total Total Total Total |
Operating expenses (41 043) (13 043) (54 086) usb RTGS RTGS RTGS RTGS
11 @125 @13 @14 @15
Profit before tax 9205 15 940 25 145 Cashand bank balances 150707 205355 223572 260004 296 436
Taxation (311) (512) (823) Derivative fi instruments - 1 1 1 2
Profitfor the year 8894 15428 24 322 Investmentsecurities 289001 289001 289001 289001 289 001
Loansandreceivablesfrombanks 4030 4030 4030 4030 4030
Total a.ssgt.s. 363 303 335438 698 744 Loans and advances to customers 194675 220175 228675 245675 262675
Total liabilities 304 668 277573 582 241
Otherassets 8552 11964 13101 15376 17 650
Related parties Property and equipment 30602 45226 45226 45226 45226
The Bank is controlled by Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings (Private) Limited incorporated and domiciled in Investment properties 5145 9646 9646 9646 9646
ZImpapwe WNnICN OWNS 53%(2UL /1 53%) OTINeorainary snares. 15%ls neiany an Employee Snare Uwnersnip :
Trust (ESOT) and the remaining 32%of the shares are widely held. The ultimate parent of the Bank is First Non-currentassetsheldforsale 14829 s7ors 44 487 59317 74146
Capital Group incorporated in Mauritius. There are other companies which are related to First Capital Bank
through common shareholdings or common directorship. In the normal course of business, placings of Total assets 698 744 823674 858942 929478 1000015
foreign currencies made with group companies are at market interest rates.
Liabilities
Directors and key managementcompensation Derivative fi instruments 1 2 2 3 4
2018 2004 Bal d herbank 2905 2905 2905 2905 2905
$000 $00C alances dueto other banks
Salaries and other short term benefits 2075 2042 Deposits from customer 553564 628207 653088 702850 752612
Post-employmentbenefits 191 198 Provisions 3163 3163 3163 3163 3163
Share based payments 50 29 .
Compensation for loss of office: funded by the Bank - 231 Other liabilities 18052 23280 25022 28507 81992
funded by the Group - 654 Deferred tax liabilities 2748 2748 2748 2748 2748
Total 2316 3154 Bankbalances dueto Groupcompanies 1806 4514 5417 7222 9028
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing Total liabilities 582240 664820 692347 747400 802453
and controlling the activities of the Bank directly or indirectly. These include the Managing Director, Chief
Finance Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Commercial Divisional Director, Head of Operations, Chief Technology Equity
Officer, Head of Retail Banking, Chief Internal Auditor, Head of Compliance, Company Secretary and Head Share capital 216 216 216 216 216
of Human Resources. .
Share premium 23837 23837 23837 23837 23837
Loans to directors and key management Non-distributable reserves 7785 7785 7785 7785 7785
2018 2017 Fairvaluethrough other comprehensiveincomereserve 4926 4926 4926 4926 4926
$000 $000 Revaluation reserves 4936 4936 4936 4936 4936
LoansoutstandingatlJanuary 1695 1444 Impairmentreserve-FVOCIfinancialinstruments 611 611 611 611 611
Loansissuedduringtheyear 153 543
Loans repayments during the year (659) (293) Share-based payment reserve 1228 1228 1228 1228 1228
Loansoutstanding at 31 December 1189 1695 Profi and Loss for the year 24 322 24441 24481 24 560 24715
Retained income 48643 48643 48643 48643 48643
Translationgain - 42 231 49 933 65 336 80 665
Of the loans advanced to directors and other key management personnel $817 401.07 is secured and Total equity 116504 158854 166596 182079 197 567
repayablg over 7-18 years. The balance of $ 371 507.69 is unsecured and repay.able.monthly ovgr 4years at Total equity and liabilities 698 744 823674 858942 929478 1000015
average interest rates of 6.3% (2017:6.3%). Loans and advances to non-executive directors during the year
ended 31 December 2018 were nil (2017: $9 454.72). The average interest rate on loans to non-executive
directorswas 13%.
Corecapital 107 291 - - - -
No impairmentlosses have beenrecognised in respect of loans advanced to related parties (2017:nil)
. . rrotal capital & reserves 116504 158854 166596 182079 197 567
Deposits fromdirectors and key management o
Total capital impact of exchange ratechange - 36% 43% 56% 70%
2018 2017
$000 $00( _
Deposits atl January 96 142 Summary Sensitivity analysis for events after thereporting period
Deposits received during the year 3438 3906
Deposits repaid during the year (3406) (3952) Components of reported amounts Sensitivity Analysis
Deposits at 31 December 128 96 Monetary
Balances with related parties —related through common directorship and shareholding Monetary ~ Assets/ Non-
. Assets/ Liabilities ~ monetary
Deposits  Loans and ~ Loansanc Liabilities Nostro Assets/ Total Total Total Total
advances Deposits  advances RTGS FCA Liabilities Total RTGS RTGS RTGS RTGS
2018 2018 2017 2017 Dollars (USD) (USD) | UsD1:1 @125 @13 @14 @15
$000 $000 $000 $00C Total assets 606 347 55 707 36 689 [ 698 744 823674 858942 929 478 1000015
Current 32221 21977 37 569 3500 Total liabilities 527 186 55053 - 582240 664820 692347 747 400 802453
Non-current - - - 1333 Translation gain - - - - 42231 49933 65336 80665
Total 32221 21977 37569 4833 Total equity 79 161 654 36 689 [ 116 504 158 854 166 596 182079 197 562
] Corecapital 107 291 - - 1107 291 - - - -
Repayments on the loans to the related parties were made on due dates. New loans were also granted. Interest
income on the loans was $788 158 (2017: $257 127.69). The balances were assessed and no impairment losses
havebeenrecognised for balances with related parties through common directorship/trusteeship. otal capital impact of
changerate change - - - - 36% 43% 56% 70%

Balances with group companies

2018 2017

$000 $00C
Bankbalancesduefromgroupcompanies ) -
Other balances due to group companies 1806 -
Total 1804 -
Related Parties - related through common shareholding

2018 2017

$000 $00C
Balance with Barclays Bank PLC - 7853
Total - 7 853
Capital commitments and contingencies
Capital commitments

2018 2017

$000 $00(C
Authorised and contracted for 1500 4083
Authorised but not yet contracted for 6114 9915
Total 7614 13998

12

Key assumptions and notes:
1. Given the implied market rates between electronic money and bond notes to United States dollar of
around 3 to 4, a sensitivity rate range of 2.5 to 5 have been applied.

2. Re-assessmentof property marketvalues was conducted by anindependent valuer based on rental
increase observed in the market.

3. Theonly movement on equityis from translation reserve.
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Annual General Meeting Form of Proxy

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Thirty Eighth Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of First Capital
Bank Limited will be held at Meikles Hotel, in the Stewart Room on the 10th of May 2019, at 15:00 hours
forthe purpose of transacting thefollowing business:-

Agenda
Ordinary business

Shareholders will be requested to consider and if deemed fi to pass the following ordinary resolutions,
with or without amendment:-

1. Toreceive,consider and adopt the Financial Statements and Report of the Directors and Auditors for
thefinancial year ended 31 December 2018.

Of e s

2. a.Toapprovethere-election of adirector. Mr B. Moyo retires as a director of the Company, in terms of
Article 102 of the Articles of Association. Being eligible in terms of Article 104 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. B. Moyo offers himself for re-election.

b. To approvethere-election of adirector. Mrs. T.Moyo retires as a director of the Company, in terms of
Article102 of the Articles of Association. Being eligible in terms of Article 104 of the Articles of
Association, Mrs. T.Moyo offers herself for re-election.

c. Tonotetheretirement of adirector. Mrs. E. Fundiraretires as adirector of the Company, in terms of
Article102 of the Articles of Association.

or failing him/her the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our
behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held (date and venue to be advised by
noticein the press) and at any adjournment thereof.

3. Toapprovedirectors’fees and remuneration for the past year.

4. Toappointauditors.KPMGhas served as the Company’s Auditors for seven years afterthe Bank
obtained regulatory approval to extend its term of appointment to allow for a smooth transition. It
is proposed that Deloitte be appointed as Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting.
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5. Tofix theremuneration of the auditors for the past year’s audit.

In terms of the Companies Act (Chapter 24.03), a member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting is
entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on a poll and speak in his stead. A proxy need not be a
member of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Violet Mutandwa

Company Secretary

Barclay House

Cnr. First Street /Jason Moyo Avenue, Harare

11 April 2018

Profiles of retiring directors eligible for re-election

Busisa Moyo Independent Non — Executive Director

Mr. Moyo is the Chief Executive Officer of United Refineries Limited, one of the largest integrated
cooking and soap manufacturing companies in Zimbabwe. He holds a Global Executive MBA from
IESE Business School and Bachelor of Accounting Science Degree from the University of South Africa.
He completed his articles in 1999. He is a member of the Presidential Advisory Council, the current
Chairman of the Oil Expressers of Zimbabwe and the immediate Past President of the Confederation
of ZimbabwelIndustries.

Tembiwe Moyo Independent Non — Executive Director

Mrs. Moyo is the Chief Executive Officer of Beitbridge Bulawayo Railway (Private) Limited. She is an
Accountantand Chartered Secretary by profession and she holds aMaster’sin Business Administration
(Nottingham Trent University, UK) and is an Associate member of the Chartered Institute of
Administrators and Secretaries (ACIS).She is the Chairperson and Trustee of the Women in Agri-
business in Sub-Sahara Africa Alliance (WASAA), the Chairperson of ANSA, a board member of the
Southern Africa Railways Association (SARA), ashareholder representative of the NLPI Limited Group
and aplatinum member of PROWEB.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the shareholders of First Capital Bank Limited

Adverse Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of First Capital Bank Limited (the
"Bank") set out on pages 21 to 76, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter discussed in the
Basis for Adverse Opinion section of our report, the financial statements do
not present fairly, the financial position of First Capital Bank Limited as at
31 December 2018, and its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03)
of Zimbabwe the Banking Act (Chapter 24:20) and the Banking Amendment
Act of 2015.

Basis for Adverse Opinion

As described in Note 2.1, during the year ended 31 December 2018, the Bank
transacted using a combination of foreign currency, bond notes and bond
coins. Acute shortage of United States Dollar (US$) cash and other foreign
currencies in the country, resulted in an increase in the use of different modes
of payment for goods and services such as settlement through the Real Time
Gross Settlement (RTGS) system overseen by the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe
(RBZ), point of sale and mobile money platforms. The note further explains
that during the year there was a significant divergence in market perception
of the relative values between the USS, and the bond note, bond coin, mobile
money platforms and RTGS, collectively referred to therein as "local
currency”, Although RTGS, bond note, bond coin and mobile money platforms
were not legally recognised as currency during the year ended 31 December
2018, the substance of the economic phenomenon suggested that it was
currency. As a result of these factors the directors performed an assessment
on the functional currency of the Bank in accordance with IAS 21, The Effects
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (IAS 21), and acknowledge that the
functional currency of the Bank was no longer the US$.
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In February 2019, an electronic currency called the RTGS Dollar was introduced through
Statutory Instrument 33 of 2019 (S.1. 33) with an effective date of 22 February 2019 and the
currency commenced trading at a rate of 2.5 to the US$. In addition S.|. 33 fixed the exchange
rate between the RTGS Dollar and the USS at a rate of 1:1 for periods before the effective
date. The rate of 1:1 is consistent with the rate mandated by the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe
(RBZ) at the time it issued the bond notes as currency.

Although the directors acknowledge that there was a functional currency change and that the
market exchange rate between the USS and local currency was not 1:1, they have maintained
their functional currency as the US$ and have presented the financial statements in USS using
an exchange rate of 1:1, in compliance with S.| 33. This constitutes a departure from the
requirements of IAS 21.

The directors have performed a sensitivity analysis of how different exchange rates would
impact the Bank’s statement of financial position in note 45 to the financial statements.
However, the amounts presented may not reflect the opening balances in RTGS dollars
going forward. This confirms that had the local currency been translated to US$ in
accordance with IAS 21, many elements in the statement of financial position would have
been matenally affected and therefore the departure from the requirements of IAS 21 is
considered to be pervasive. The effects of this departure on the Bank's financial statements
have not been determined.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Zimbabwe, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the |ESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our adverse opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period and which are not
materially impacted by the matter described in the Basis for Adverse Opinion section. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our adverse opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. Except for the matter described in the Basis for Adverse Opinion section,
we have determined there are no other key audit matters to be communicate in our
report,

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the Annual Report but does not include the financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. As described in the Basis for Adverse Opinion section above, the Bank
should have translated its local currency transactions and balances to US$ using a rate
determine in accordance with IAS 21. We have therefore concluded that the other
information is materially misstated for the same reason, with respect to the amounts
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contained in the Financial Highlights, Chairman’s Statement and the Managing Directors
Review of Operations, which are affected by the failure to translate the local currency
transactions and balances using a rate which complies with the requirements of IAS 21.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the
manner required by the Companies Act {Chapter 24:03) of Zimbabwe, the Banking Act
(Chapter 24:20) and the Banking Amendment Act of 2015, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion, The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

» Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
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the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Bank to cease 1o continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

KPrc,

Michael de Beer

Partner

Registered Auditor

PAAB Practicing Certificate Number 0369

12 April 2019

For and behalf of KPMIG Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe), Reporting Auditor
Mutual Gardens

100 The Chase (West)

Emerald Hill

P.O Box 6, Harare

Zimbabwe



